
  

 

City and County of Swansea 
 
Notice of Meeting 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the 

 

Planning Committee 
 

At: 
 

Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS Teams 
 

On: 
 

Tuesday, 5 March 2024 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 

Chair: Councillor Paul Lloyd 
 

Membership: 
Councillors: P M Black, P Downing, A J Jeffery, M H Jones, S E Keeton, M B Lewis, 
R D Lewis, N L Matthews, M S Tribe, T M White and R A Williams 
 
Watch Online: http://tiny.cc/PC5feb 
 

Agenda 
Page No. 

1   Apologies for Absence.  
 
2   Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.  

 www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests 
 

 

3   Minutes. 1 - 4 
 To approve & sign the Minutes of the previous meeting(s) as a correct 

record. 
 

 
4   Items for deferral/withdrawal.  
 
5   Determination of Planning Applications under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
5 - 54 

 
6   Exclusion of the Public. 55 - 58 
 
7   Enforcement Report. 59 - 71 
 
 

Next Meeting: Tuesday, 9 April 2024 at 2.00 pm 
 

 
Huw Evans 
Head of Democratic Services  
Tuesday, 27 February 2024 

Contact: Democratic Services - 636923 

http://tiny.cc/PC5feb
http://www.swansea.gov.uk/disclosuresofinterests


 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
 

Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS 

Teams  

Tuesday, 6 February 2024 at 2.00 pm 

 
Present: Councillor P Lloyd (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s) 
P M Black P Downing A J Jeffery 
M H Jones S E Keeton M B Lewis 
R D Lewis M S Tribe T M White 
R A Williams   
 
Officer(s)  
Gareth Borsden Democratic Services Officer 
Ian Davies Development Manager 
Eilian Jones Area Team Leader 
Sally-Ann Evans Lead Lawyer 
Amanda Pugh Principal Engineer 
Jonathan Wills Lead Lawyer 
Lucy Kelly Principal Planning Officer 
 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): N L Matthews 

 

 
41 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 

 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of 
Swansea, no interests were declared. 
 

42 Minutes. 
 
Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 January 2024 be approved and 
signed as a correct record. 
 

43 Items for deferral/withdrawal. 
 
None. 
 

44 Determination of Planning Applications under the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 
A series of planning applications were presented on behalf of the Head of Planning & 
City Regeneration.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Planning Committee (06.02.2024) 
Cont’d 

 

 
Resolved that the undermentioned planning applications be approved.  
 
Amendments/updates to this schedule were reported and are indicated below by (#)  
(Note: Updates to the report referred to below were circulated to Members of the 
Committee and published on the Council’s website prior to the meeting.) 
 
#(Item 1) - Planning Application 2021/3027/S73 - Variation of condition 1 of 
planning permission  2018/1001/RES granted 11th March 2019 to amend the 
layout of the approved development for 36 new dwellings. (comprising 17 
linked terraced dwellings, 5 pairs of semi-detached dwellings, 1 detached 
dwelling and 8 flats in 2, two storey blocks, along with associated access, 
parking, landscaping and open space.) at Land off Brithwen Road, 
Waunarlwydd, Swansea 
 
A visual presentation was given. 
 
Phi Baxter (agent for applicants) addressed the committee. 
 
Report updated as follows: 
 
Condition 1 to read: 
1. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents:  
2457 - storm sewers (condition 9 of 2008/0512) 
2457-520 rev c - engineering layout (condition 9 of 2008/0512) 
received 10 january 2024  
2251 - 200 -15b rev b - block 2 elevations - plots 5-7 
2251 - 200 -16c rev c - block 2 elevations 2 - plots 5-7   
2251 - 200 -18b rev b - block 3 elevations - plots 14-16 
2251 - 200 -19b rev b - block 3 elevations 2 - plots 14-16 
2251 - 200 -21a rev b - block 4 elevations - plots 31-33 
2251 - 200 -22b rev b - block 4 elevations 2 - plots 31-33 
2251 - 200 -24c rev c - block 5 elevations - plots 17-20 
2251 - 200 -25c rev c - block 5 elevations 2 - plots 17-20 
2251 - 200 -27b rev b - block 6 elevations - plots 21-24 
2251 - 200 -28b rev b - block 6 elevations 2 - plots 21-24 
2251 - 200 -34 rev a - floor plans house type 851 plot 36 -3 bed  
 
2251 - 200 -35 rev a - elevations house type 851 plot 36 -3 bed 
2251 - 200 -37 rev a - elevations house type 764 & 851 plots 34 & 35 -3 bed 
received 8th january 2024 
           
2251-102 rev k - external works layout  (condition 15 of 2008/0512) 
2251-103 rev j - materials layout 
tda2284.01 rev f - detailed soft landscape proposals  (condition 11 of 2008/0512) 
received 23 november 2023 
 
2251-101 rev v - site layout  
received 15th november 2023 
 

Page 2



Minutes of the Planning Committee (06.02.2024) 
Cont’d 

 

2251-200-04 rev c - floor plans housetype 851 - 3 bed 
2251-200-05 rev c - elevations housetype 851 - 3 bed 
received 4th october 2023  
 
2251-200-01 rev b - floor plans housetype 764 - 2 bed 
2251-200-02a rev b - elevations housetype 764 - 2 bed 
2251-200-03 rev b - elevations housetype 764 - 2 bed 
2251-200-06 rev b - elevation plan type 851 -3 bed 
2251-200-07 rev b - floor plan type 211- 1 bed flat 
2251-200-08 rev b - elevation plan type 211- 1 bed flat 
2251-240a - streetscene 
received 28 september 2023 
 

2251-100 rev a site location plan 
elcot japanese knotweed survey, (condition 11 of 2008/0512),  
received 1st may 2018.  
 
landscape specification management plan (condition 11 of 2008/0512 ), received 4th 
july 2018.  
 

tda.2284.02 - tree pit construction detail (condition 11 of 2008/0512 ), received on 28 
august 2018.  
 
2251 - 200 - 30 bin store details 
2251 - 200 - 31 cycle store details 
received 14th february 2019 (2018/1001/res) 
 

arboricultural report (condition 18 &19 of 2008/0512) 
received 29th november 2021 
 

block plan / site plan received on 6th august 2009. (2008/0512) 
 

reason: for the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved 
plans. 
 

 Condition 3 amended at Committee to read: 

3. Prior to beneficial occupation of the first dwelling, full details of the proposed 
arrangements for future management and maintenance of the proposed streets 
within the development, (including traffic calming measures and signage) shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The streets 
shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with the approved management and 
maintenance details until such time as an agreement has been entered into under 
section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 or a private management and maintenance 
company has been established. 

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with satisfactory vehicular 
access in the interests of public safety and to accord with Policies PS2, T1  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



Minutes of the Planning Committee (06.02.2024) 
Cont’d 

 

(Item 2) - Planning Application 2020/2588/RES - Proposed cessation of landfill 
and other operations enabled by residential development circa 300 dwelling, 
public open space, associated highway and ancillary works (Details of 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale pursuant to outline planning 
permission 2014/0977 granted  on appeal 11th January 2018) for phases 5 (19 
dwellings), open space and ancillary infrastructure at Cwmrhydyceirw Quarry 
Co Ltd, Great Western Terrace, Cwmrhydyceirw, Swansea 
 
A visual presentation was given. 
 
Councillor A S Lewis (Local Member) addressed the committee and spoke regarding 
the methane and water/drainage issues on the site. 
 

 Additional informative added: 

5. The developer is reminded of the requirements of condition 7 of the outline 
planning permission in respect of the proposed development of phase 5 and the 
requirement to submit a scheme to investigate and monitor the site for the presence 
of gases and, where required, to implement gas protection measures to ensure the 
safe and inoffensive dispersal or management of gases 
 
 
(Item 3) - Planning Application 2023/1991/FUL - Change of use of deli to hot 
food takeaway (A3) at 32 St Teilo Street, Pontarddulais, Swansea 
 
A visual presentation was given. 
 
Amend reason at Condition 3 by changing ‘complimentary’ to ‘complementary’. 
 
 
(Item 4) - Planning Application 2023/2627/S73 - Construction of 44 no. 
dwellings (100% affordable housing) with landscaping, access and associated 
works (Variation of condition 2 (Approved Plans) of planning permission 
2020/2357/FUL granted 29th September 2021) to add Photo Voltaic Cells and 
Air Source Heat Pumps to the proposed dwellings and flat block at 
Pencefnarda Farm, Pencefnarda Road, Gorseinon, Swansea 
 
A visual presentation was given. 
 
James Scarborough (agent for applicants) addressed the committee. 
 
Application approved subject to a Section 106 agreement. 
 
 
The meeting ended at 3.23 pm 

Chair 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bay Area 

Team Leader: 

Hayley Kemp 

Tel: 07970 680580 

 

Area 1 

Team Leader 

Eilian Jones 

Tel: 07929 822781 

Area 2 

Team Leader:  

Chris Healey 

Tel: 07970 680562 

 
Castle 

Cockett 
Mayals 
Sketty 

St Thomas 
Uplands 

Waterfront 
Waunarlwydd 
West Cross 

 

 
Bonymaen 

Clydach 
Cwmbwrla 

Gorseinon and Penyrheol  
Landore 

Llangyfelach  
Llansamlet 

Llwchwr 
Morriston 

Mynyddbach 
Penderry 

Penllergaer 
Pontarddulais 

Pontlliw and Tircoed 

Townhill 

 

 
Bishopston 

Dunvant and Killay 
Fairwood 

Gower 
Gowerton 
Mumbles 

Penclawdd 

Pennard 

 

Members are asked to contact the relevant team leader for the ward in which the 
application site is located, should they wish to have submitted plans and other 
images of any of the applications on this agenda displayed at the Committee 

meeting. 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
Dinas a Sir Abertawe 

 
Report of the Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

 
to Chair and Members of Planning Committee  

DATE: 5th March 2024 

 

 

Phil Holmes 
BS(Hons), MSc, Dip Econ 
Head of Planning & City Regeneration 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 

 
 
 

Contents 
 
 
 

Item App. No. Site Location Officer Rec. 

    

1 2023/1240/S73 Cockett Valley Solar Farm, Waunarlwydd, Swansea, 
SA5 4RQ 

Approve 

  Construction of a 4MW solar farm comprising c. 
14,790 individual panels and associated 
structures and works - Variation of conditions 2 
(plans), 4 (Landscape and Habitat Management), 
7 (Surface Water Management Plan), and 10 
(Sustainable Drainage System) of planning 
permission 2014/1837 granted 18th August 2015 
 

 

    

2 2023/1227/FUL Land At Pentrechwyth Road, Bonymaen, Swansea, 
SA1 7AB 

Approve 

  Demolition of existing structures and 
construction of 34 no. affordable residential 
dwelling units, comprising 5 pairs of semi 
detached dwellings and 24no. flats in 2no. three 
storey blocks and associated works 

 

 

Page 6



TWO STAGE VOTING  
 

Where Members vote against officer recommendation, a two stage vote will 
apply.  This is to ensure clarity and probity in decision making and to make 
decisions less vulnerable to legal challenge or awards of costs against the 
Council. 
 
The first vote is taken on the officer recommendation. 
 
Where the officer recommendation is for “approval” and Members resolve not 
to accept this recommendation, reasons for refusal should then be formulated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote. 
 
The application will not be deemed to be refused unless and until 
reasons for refusal have been recorded and approved by Members.  The 
reason(s) have to be lawful in planning terms.  Officers will advise specifically 
on the lawfulness or otherwise of reasons and also the implications for the 
Council for possible costs against the Council in the event of an appeal and 
will recommend deferral in the event that there is a danger that the Council 
would be acting unreasonably in refusing the application. 
 
Where the officer recommendation is for “refusal” and Members resolve not to 
accept this recommendation, appropriate conditions should then be debated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote.  For reasons of probity, Members 
should also confirm reasons for approval which should also be lawful in 
planning terms.  Officers will advise accordingly but will recommend deferral if 
more time is required to consider what conditions/obligations are required or if 
he/she considers a site visit should be held.  If the application departs from 
the adopted development plan it (other than a number of policies listed on 
page 83 of Part 3 of the Constitution) will need to be reported to Council and 
this report will include any appropriate conditions/obligations. 
 
The application will not be deemed to be approved unless and until 
suitable conditions have been recorded and confirmed by means of a 
second vote. 
 
Where Members are unable to reach agreement on reasons for refusal or 
appropriate conditions as detailed above, Members should resolve to defer 
the application for further consultation and receipt of appropriate planning and 
legal advice.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 Ward: Waunarlwydd - Bay Area 

 

Location: Cockett Valley Solar Farm, Waunarlwydd, Swansea, SA5 4RQ 
 

Proposal: Construction of a 4MW solar farm comprising c. 14,790 individual panels 
and associated structures and works - Variation of conditions 2 (plans), 4 
(Landscape and Habitat Management), 7 (Surface Water Management 
Plan), and 10 (Sustainable Drainage System) of planning permission 
2014/1837 granted 18th August 2015 
 

Applicant: Mr Andreas Kyriacou  RDW (11) Limited 
 

 
 
 

Procedural 
 
The application is referred to Committee as the original development meets the alternate 
development threshold set out in the Council’s Constitution. 
 
Site Location 
 
Cockett Valley Solar Farm is located within the rural landscape to the south of Waunarlwydd, with 
the western edge of the site approximately 15 metres from the outskirts of Waunarlwydd. Directly 
to the north of the site is a mixture of open greenspace and trees, followed by Waunarlwydd 
approximately 90 metres north and a railway line approximately 0.5 km north. 
  

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 
100023509 

Page 8



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
To the northeast of the site is a large industrial and retail estate within the district of Fforest-fach 
approximately 1.1 km from the site, this adjoins directly onto the residential area of Portmead 
which is approximately 2.3 km north east of the site. 
 
To the east and south are open fields and wooded areas with Cockett approximately 1.6 km to 
the east of the site. The south eastern boundary of the site backs directly onto Cwmllwyd Wood, 
with an expanse of open fields before reaching the district of Sketty approximately 1 km from the 
site. The centre of the City of Swansea is approximately 4.8 km to the south east of the site. The 
village of Killay sits approximately 1 km to the south of the site. Approximately 0.5 km to the south 
west is a small industrial site called Craig-y-Bwldan, and approximately 1.2 km to the southwest 
is the district of Dunvant. 
 
Approximately 0.2 km to the east of the site are isolated properties, immediately followed by 
Waunarlwydd Road. Beyond this road are open fields, followed by Cockett approximately 1.7 km 
east of the site. 
 
The site is accessed via a track located off Waunarllwydd Road and is located within the North 
East Gower and Cockett Valley Special Landscape Area. 
 
Description of Development 
 

The application site is currently being used as a solar farm since its construction completion in 
2017, following permission granted under planning application ref. 2014/1837 in August 2015. 
 

This is a Section 73 application for the variation of conditions 2 (Plans), 4 (Landscape and Habitat 
Management), 7 (Surface Water Management Plan), and 10 (Sustainable Drainage System) of 
planning permission 2014/1837 granted 18th August 2015 for the construction of a 4MW solar 
farm comprising c. 14,790 individual panels and associated structures and works to allow for the 
following amendments: 
 

• extension of security fence to encompass Distribution Network Operator (DNO) substation 
building, and addition of extra gate. The extra fencing will be 2.4m in height and would be 
palisade instead of post-and-wire to enhance security at the site; and will be required to sit a 
minimum distance of 2 m from the substation for safety reasons. 

• removal and relocation of planting which is currently situated outside the security fence in line 
with the approved details of the previous landscaping scheme. 

• additional CCTV cameras/poles. Increase from 5 to a total of 32 camera poles with 34 
cameras for full perimeter CCTV coverage. Each pole would reach a maximum height of 2.4m 
and will be 0.20m wide and made of metal and will be situated approximately 2m within the 
wire mesh security fencing, located in various positions around the permitter of the site; and 

• improvement to drainage system to prevent road erosion. The access tracks within the site 
have suffered from erosion due to run off, so it is proposed to open unlined filter trenches 
along the southern side of each roadway to collect and infiltrate flows. Any excess flows would 
overflow into the existing swales. The filter trenches would help draw out water within the 
subbase of the roadway, thereby reducing the potential for water logging. 

 

The proposed development is required due to the on-going industry wide vulnerabilities with theft 
and vandalism associated with solar farm sites. The additional measures will enable the site to be 
protected from future theft and vandalism and ensure the site remains operational. 
  Page 9



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
This S73 application has been supported by the following revised submitted documents and  
information: 
 

 Planning Statement  

 Revised plans and details relating to site layout, fencing, landscaping and CCTV details. 

 Updated Surface Water Drainage Plan. 

 Landscape and Visual Statement; 

 Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP). 
 
Planning History 
 
An application for the construction of a 4MW solar farm comprising c. 14,790 individual panels 
and associated structures and works, was approved with conditions on 18/08/15, ref: 2014/1837. 
 
A non-material amendment application to planning permission 2014/1837 granted 18th August 
2015 to reduce the foot print of the solar array, reduce the height and increase the width of the 
individual solar panel, relocate the access road, amend the landscaping area, re-location of the 
Northwestern substation, re-location of Eastern substation and client substation and change in 
substation dimensions, was approved on 17/04/17, ref: 2017/0473/NMA. 
 
A pre-application for modifications to planning permission 2014/1837 for - Construction of a 4MW 
solar farm comprising c. 14,790 individual panels and associated structures and works to allow 
for an extension of the perimeter fence, retention of as built substation and removal of tree planting 
condition, was given a mixed response on 03/09/20, ref: 2020/0867/PRE. 
 
Section 73 Procedures 
 
This Section 73 application relates to planning permission 2014/1837. 
 
Section 73 of the Act provides for applications to be made for planning permission to develop land 
without complying with conditions previously imposed on a planning permission i.e. to vary or 
remove a condition. The local planning authority can grant such permission unconditionally or 
subject to different conditions, or they can refuse the application if they decided the original 
condition(s) should continue. The original planning permission will continue to subsist whatever 
the outcome of the application under section 73. 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The National Development Framework: Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 
 
Future Wales sets out the Welsh Government's land use priorities and provides a national land 
use framework for SDPs and LDPs. Future Wales concentrates on development and land use 
issues of national significance, indicating areas of major opportunities and change, highlighting 
areas that need protecting and enhancing and helping to co-ordinate the delivery of Welsh 
Government policies to maximise positive outcomes. 
 
Policy 1 - Where Wales Will Grow 
Policy 2 - Shaping Urban Growth and Regeneration - Strategic Placemaking 
  

Page 10



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Policy 9 - Resilient Ecological Networks and Green Infrastructure 
Policy 17 - Renewable and Low Carbon Energy and Associated Infrastructure 
 
Planning Policy Wales (12th Edition) 2024 
 
Good Design Making Better Places  
 
3.3 Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work 
and socialise. Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between 
all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and places. To achieve 
sustainable development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, 
environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, how buildings 
and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation, management, and its 
relationship with the surroundings area.  
 
3.4 Design is an inclusive process, which can raise public aspirations, reinforce civic pride and 
create a sense of place and help shape its future. For those proposing new development, early 
engagement can help to secure public acceptance of new development. Meeting the objectives 
of good design should be the aim of all those involved in the development process and applied to 
all development proposals, at all scales. 
 
Access and Inclusivity  
 
3.5 Good design is inclusive design. Development proposals should place people at the heart of 
the design process, acknowledge diversity and difference, offer choice where a single design 
solution cannot accommodate all users, provide for flexibility in use and provide buildings and 
environments that are convenient and enjoyable to use for everyone.  
 
3.6 Development proposals must address the issues of inclusivity and accessibility for all. This 
includes making provision to meet the needs of people with sensory, memory, learning and 
mobility impairments, older people and people with young children. There will often be wider 
benefits to be gained through the sensitive consideration of such provision, for example, whilst 
the presence of visual cues will be invaluable in assisting those with hearing loss to engage in a 
noisy environment, a navigable environment will benefit all. Good design can also encourage 
people to meet and interact with each other, helping to address issues surrounding loneliness. 
Good design must also involve the provision of measures that help to reduce the inequality of 
access to essential services, education and employment experienced by people without access 
to a car. Design measures and features should enable easy access to services by walking, cycling 
and public transport. 
 

Environmental Sustainability  
 

3.7 Good design promotes environmental sustainability and contributes to the achievement of the 
well-being goals. Developments should seek to maximise energy efficiency and the efficient use 
of other resources (including land), maximise sustainable movement, minimise the use of non-
renewable resources, encourage decarbonisation and prevent the generation of waste and 
pollution. An integrated and flexible approach to design, including early decisions regarding 
location, layout, built form, the choice of materials, the adaptability of buildings and site treatment 
will be an appropriate way of contributing to resilient development.  
  

Page 11



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
3.8 Good design can help to ensure high environmental quality. Landscape and green 
infrastructure considerations are an integral part of the design process. Integrating green 
infrastructure is not limited to focusing on landscape and ecology, rather, consideration should be 
given to all features of the natural environment and how these function together to contribute 
toward the quality of places. This embraces the principles of 'ecosystems services' and 
sustainable management of natural resources where multiple benefits solution become an integral 
part of good design. In a similar manner, addressing environmental risks can make a positive 
contribution to environmental protection and improvement, addressing land contamination, 
instability and flood risk and providing for biodiversity, climate protection, improved air quality, 
soundscape and water resources benefits. 
 
Character  
 
3.9 The special characteristics of an area should be central to the design of a development. The 
layout, form, scale and visual appearance of a proposed development and its relationship to its 
surroundings are important planning considerations. A clear rationale behind the design decisions 
made, based on site and context analysis, a strong vision, performance requirements and design 
principles, should be sought throughout the development process and expressed, when 
appropriate, in a design and access statement.  
 
Community Safety  
 
3.11 Local authorities are under a legal obligation to consider the need to prevent and reduce 
crime and disorder in all decisions that they take. Crime prevention and fear of crime are social 
considerations to which regard should be given in the preparation of development plans and 
taking planning decisions. The aim should be to produce safe environments that do not 
compromise on design quality in accordance with the cohesive communities well-being goal. 
 
Movement  
 
3.12 Good design is about avoiding the creation of car-based developments. It contributes to 
minimising the need to travel and reliance on the car, whilst maximising opportunities for people 
to make sustainable and healthy travel choices for their daily journeys. Achieving these objectives 
requires the selection of sites which can be made easily accessible by sustainable modes as well 
as incorporating appropriate, safe and sustainable links (including active travel networks) within 
and between developments using legal agreements where appropriate. 
 
Development in the Countryside  
 
3.60 Development in the countryside should be located within and adjoining those settlements 
where it can best be accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access, habitat and landscape 
conservation. Infilling or minor extensions to existing settlements may be acceptable, in particular 
where they meet a local need for affordable housing or it can be demonstrated that the proposal 
will increase local economic activity. However, new building in the open countryside away from 
existing settlements or areas allocated for development in development plans must continue to 
be strictly controlled. All new development should be of a scale and design that respects the 
character of the surrounding area. 
  

Page 12



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Supporting Infrastructure  
 
3.61 Adequate and efficient infrastructure, including services such as education and health 
facilities along with transport, water supply, sewers, sustainable waste management, electricity 
and gas (the utilities) and telecommunications, is crucial for economic, social and environmental 
sustainability. It underpins economic competitiveness and opportunities for households and 
businesses to achieve socially and environmentally desirable ways of living and working. 
Infrastructure which is poorly designed or badly located can exacerbate problems rather than 
solving them.  
 
3.62 Planning authorities should, in conjunction with key providers, take a strategic and long term 
approach towards the provision of infrastructure as part of plan making. This may involve 
collaboration between planning authorities and key infrastructure providers to ensure 
infrastructure provision is sustainable, fit for purpose and can be co ordinated and timed to support 
placemaking aspirations.  
 
3.63 Development should be located so that it can be well serviced by existing or planned 
infrastructure. In general this will involve maximising the use of existing infrastructure or 
considering how the provision of infrastructure can be effectively co ordinated to support 
development plans. Infrastructure choices should support decarbonisation, socially and 
economically connected places and the sustainable use of natural resources. 
 
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  
 
5.9.1 Local authorities should facilitate all forms of renewable and low carbon energy development 
and should seek cross department co operation to achieve this. In doing so, planning authorities 
should seek to ensure their area's full potential for renewable and low carbon energy generation 
is maximised and renewable energy targets are achieved. Planning authorities should seek to 
maximise the potential of renewable energy by linking the development plan with other local 
authority strategies, including Local Well being plans and Economic/ Regeneration strategies. 
 
Local Energy Generation  
 
5.9.11 The Welsh Government encourages the use of local renewable and low carbon energy as 
part of the imperative to reduce carbon emissions. Renewable and low carbon energy 
developments offer significant potential for communities and small businesses to develop their 
own projects for local benefit. 
 
Locational Policies for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Development  
 
5.9.14 Planning authorities should support and guide renewable and low carbon energy 
development to ensure their area's potential is maximised. Planning authorities should assess the 
opportunities for renewable and low carbon energy in the area, and use this evidence to establish 
spatial policies in their development plan which identify the most appropriate locations for 
development of energy developments below 10MW. There should be a presumption in favour of 
development in identified areas, including an acceptance of landscape change, with clear criteria 
based policies setting out detailed locational issues to be considered at the planning application 
stage.  
  Page 13



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
5.9.15 Outside identified areas, planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy 
developments should be determined based on the merits of the individual proposal. The local 
need for a particular scheme is not a material consideration, as energy generation is of national 
significance and there is a recognised need to optimise renewable and low carbon energy 
generation. Planning authorities should seek to ensure their area's renewable and low carbon 
energy potential is achieved and have policies with the criteria against which planning applications 
outside of identified areas will be determined. 
 
Development Management and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy  
 
5.9.19 In determining applications for the range of renewable and low carbon energy technologies, 
planning authorities should take into account:  
 

 the contribution a proposal will make to meeting identified Welsh, UK and European 
targets; 

 the contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and  

 the wider environmental, social and economic benefits and opportunities from renewable 
and low carbon energy development.  

 
5.9.20 Planning authorities should also identify and require suitable ways to avoid, mitigate or 
compensate adverse impacts of renewable and low carbon energy development. The 
construction, operation, decommissioning, remediation and aftercare of proposals should take 
into account:  
 

 the need to minimise impacts on local communities, such as from noise and air pollution, 
to safeguard quality of life for existing and future generations;  

 the impact on the natural and historic environment;  

 cumulative impact;  

 the capacity of, and effects on the transportation network;  

 grid connection issues where renewable (electricity) energy developments are proposed; 
and  

 the impacts of climate change on the location, design, build and operation of renewable 
and low carbon energy development. In doing so, consider whether measures to adapt to 
climate change impacts give rise to additional impacts. 

 
5.9.21 Prior to an application being submitted, developers for renewable and low carbon energy 
developments should, wherever possible, consider how to avoid, or otherwise minimise, adverse 
impacts through careful consideration of location, scale, design and other measures.  
 
5.9.22 Whatever the size of a scheme, developers should take an active role in engaging with the 
local community on renewable energy proposals. This should include pre application discussion 
and provision of background information on the renewable energy technology that is proposed.  
 
5.9.23 The Welsh Government has produced separate practice guidance highlighting the planning 
implications of a wide variety of renewable energy technologies. 
 
  

Page 14



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Adopted Swansea Local Development Plan (2010-2025) 
 
PS 1 Sustainable Places - the delivery of new homes, jobs, infrastructure and community 
facilities must comply with the plan's sustainable settlement strategy which; directs development 
to the most sustainable locations within defined settlement boundaries of the urban area and Key 
villages; requires compliance with Sustainable Housing Strategy (PS 3) and Sustainable 
Employment Strategy (PS 4); safeguards Green Wedges; and resists development in the open 
Countryside. 
 
PS 2  Placemaking and Place Management - development should enhance the quality of places 
and spaces and should accord with relevant placemaking principles. 
 
RP 4 Water Pollution and the Protection of Water Resources - development that compromises 
the quality of the water environment, or does not comply with good water resource management, 
will not be permitted. Development proposals must make efficient use of water resources and, 
where appropriate, contribute towards improvements to water quality. Sustainable drainage 
systems (SuDS) must be implemented wherever they would be effective and practicable.  Water 
courses will be safeguarded through green corridors/riparian buffers.  Development proposals 
that would have a significant adverse impact on biodiversity, fisheries, public access or water 
related recreation use of water resources, will not be permitted. 
 
ER 1  Climate Change - To mitigate against the effects of climate change, adapt to its impacts, 
and to ensure resilience, development proposals should take into account the climate change 
principles specified in the policy. 
 
ER 2 Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - Green infrastructure will be provided through the 
protection and enhancement of existing green spaces that afford valuable ecosystem services.   
Development that compromises the integrity of such green spaces, and therefore that of the 
overall green infrastructure network, will not be permitted. Development will be required to take 
opportunities to maintain and enhance the extent, quality and connectivity of the County's multi-
functional green infrastructure network in accordance with the green infrastructure principles set 
out in the policy. 
 
ER 5 Landscape Protection - Development will not be permitted that would have a significant 
adverse effect on the character and quality of the landscape of the County.   
 
Priority will be given to protecting, enhancing and managing the character and quality of the 4 
Special Landscape Areas (SLAs) (shown on the Proposals Map).  Within SLAs development will 
only be permitted where there is no significant adverse impact, including cumulative impact, on 
the character and quality of the landscape, a landscape assessment may be required.  Permitted 
development should aim to protect and enhance the features for which the SLA has been 
designated.  In exceptional circumstances, where development that will have a significant impact 
on the landscape is necessary, a landscaping scheme will be required with appropriate mitigation 
and enhancement measures.    
 
ER 8  Habitats and Species - Development proposals that would have a significant adverse effect 
on the resilience of protected habitats and species will only be permitted where they meet specific 
criteria.  
  Page 15



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
ER 9 Ecological Networks and Features of Importance for Biodiversity - Development proposals 
will be expected to maintain, protect and enhance ecological networks and features of importance 
for biodiversity.  Particular importance will be given to maintaining and enhancing the connectivity 
of ecological network. Development that could have an adverse effect on such networks and 
features will only be permitted where meet specific criteria are met.  
 
ER 11 Trees, Hedgerows and Development - Development that would adversely affect trees, 
woodlands and hedgerows of public amenity, natural/cultural heritage value, or that provide 
important ecosystem services will not normally be permitted.  Ancient Woodland, Ancient 
Woodland Sites, Ancient and Veteran trees merit specific protection and development that would 
result in specified outcomes will not normally be permitted.  
Where necessary a tree survey; arboricultural impact assessment; an arboricultural method 
statement; tree protection plan and/or scheme for tree replacement, including details of planting 
and aftercare will be required in support of a planning application. 
 
T 1  Transport Measures and Infrastructure - Development must be supported by appropriate 
transport measures and infrastructure and dependant the nature, scale and siting of the proposal, 
meet specified requirements.  Development that would have an unacceptable impact on the safe 
and efficient operation of the transport network will not be permitted. 
 
T 5  Design Principles for Transport Measures and Infrastructure - provides design criteria that 
the design of the new development, including supporting transport measures/infrastructure must 
adhere to.  
 
T 6  Parking - proposals must be served by appropriate parking provision, in accordance with 
maximum parking standards, and consider the requirements for cycles, cars, motorcycles and 
service vehicles. In those instances where adequate parking cannot be provided on site, or is 
judged not to be appropriate, the developer will be required to provide a financial contribution 
towards alternative transport measures where appropriate. The provision of secure cycle parking 
and associated facilities will be sought in all major development schemes. 
 
EU 1 Renewable and Local Carbon Energy Developments - proposals for renewable or low 
carbon energy development will be permitted subject to compliance with specific criteria 
 
EU 2 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Technology in New Development - development will 
be required to maximise the contribution of renewable or low carbon energy technology to meet 
the energy demands of the proposal, particularly for Significant Energy Consuming 
Developments.  Larger schemes, as specified in the policy, will be required to submit a 
comprehensive Energy Assessment to determine the feasibility of incorporating low carbon or 
renewable energy installations into the scheme and/or connect to renewable or low carbon energy 
technology and district heating networks. 
 
EU4  Public Utilities and New Development - development will be permitted where the utility 
infrastructure is adequate to meet the needs of the development. 
 
Development that requires new or improved utility infrastructure will be permitted where it can be 
satisfactorily demonstrated that the developer will make an appropriate contribution to secure the 
provision of the infrastructure. 
  Page 16



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
CV 2 Development in the Countryside - Development outside defined settlement boundaries will 
be required to ensure the integrity of the countryside is conserved and enhanced.  There is a 
presumption against development in the countryside except where it meets a specific set of 
criteria.  Countryside development must be of a sustainable form with prudent management of 
natural resources and respect for the cultural heritage of the area. Where possible, existing 
buildings should be reused and where this is not feasible new buildings should be positioned close 
to existing buildings. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
 
The supplementary planning guidance documents: 'City and County of Swansea Parking 
Standards', and 'Development and Biodiversity' are also relevant to the determination of this 
application.  
 
The above SPG provide information and guidance to clarify the policy aims of the relevant LDP 
Policies as set out above. These SPG have been formally adopted by the Council following public 
consultation and stakeholder engagement that informed the content of the documents. Some of 
the SPG documents were adopted by the Council prior to the LDP being formally adopted, and in 
due course the SPG documents will be subject to an updated public consultation and a re-
adoption process. Notwithstanding this, it is considered appropriate to have regard to the content 
of the SPG given: it is fundamentally aligned to (and referenced as a supporting document within) 
the relevant LDP Policies and are considered to be consistent with national guidance and the 
overarching principles of Placemaking set out within PPW and the relevant TANs. Ultimately the 
SPG documents provide useful guidance to confirm how the Council considers the relevant LDP 
Policy aims and objectives should be interpreted. 
 
Consultations: 
 
Local Highways Authority: 
 
There are no highway safety issues associated with the variation of conditions as submitted.  
 
I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal. 
 
NRW: 
 
We have considered the information submitted in support of the application for the Variation of 
condition 2 (plans) of planning permission 2014/1837 and offer no objection.  
 
We note that conditions 4 (Landscape and Habitat Management), 7 (Surface Water Management 
Plan) and 10 (Sustainable Drainage System) were not requested by NRW under the original 
planning application. Therefore, we have no comments to make on the variation of these 
conditions.  
 
However, we would look to your Authority to ensure that the pollution prevention measures and 
environmental management requirements within condition 11 (Construction Environmental 
Management Plan) of planning permission 2014/1837 are followed during the construction of the 
proposed new drainage system. 
  Page 17



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Other Matters  
 
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our checklist, Development 
Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018), which is published on our 
website. We have not considered potential effects on other matters and do not rule out the 
potential for the proposed development to affect other interests.  
 
We advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their responsibility to ensure 
they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to their development. Please refer to our 
website for further details. 
 
The Coal Authority: 
 
The Coal Authority has no objections as none of the conditions on the planning permission are 
mining related. This is further reinforced in that solar arrays are now exempt from requiring coal 
mining risk assessments. 
 
Ecology: 
 
The Authority's Ecologist raised no objection to the proposal and agreed that the revised 
landscaping plan is acceptable. 
 
Landscaping: 
 
The Landscape Team are in agreement that the landscape and habitat management proposals 
submitted satisfy Condition 4. 
 
Trees: 
 
The Authority's Arboriculturist/Tree officer raised no objection to the proposal. 
 
Welsh Water: 
 
Further to our previous response (Ref: 2023/1240/S73), in principle, we maintain no objection to 
the application for variation of conditions 2, 7 and 10 on permission 2014/1837 on the 
understanding the development proposes to dispose surface water flows to filter drains, as per 
the latest submitted 'Access Road Surface Water Drainage Strategy'.  
 
Our response is based on the information provided by your application. Should the proposal alter 
during the course of the application process we kindly request that we are re-consulted and 
reserve the right to make new representation. 
 
Drainage: 
 
The Authority's Drainage Officer considers that the proposal is acceptable. 
 
  

Page 18



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Neighbour comments: 
 
The development was advertised on site with a notice dated 9th June 2023. 2 residents on 
Barnabas Close were also consulted on 12th June 2023. No public consultations were received 
to date. 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
Main Issues 
 
The main issues to consider in the determination of this application relate to whether the proposed 
alterations to the stated conditions having regard to the prevailing provisions of the relevant 
development plan policies and National Policy guidance are acceptable in terms of the principle 
of the development, visual amenity, residential amenity, highway safety, ecology, green 
infrastructure, trees and drainage. There are considered to be no additional issues arising from 
the provisions of the Human Rights Act.  
 
Principle 
 
The principle of a solar farm development in this location has already been established in the 
previous full consent (2014/1837). It is noted that the application was considered under previous 
local and national policies, prior to the adoption of the current relevant LDP. However, that consent 
has been implemented and substantially completed with the proposed amendments to the 
conditions that form this application having little bearing on the consideration of the principle of 
the siting of a solar farm in this location. Therefore, it can be considered that the principle of 
development is well established and acceptable in accordance with LDP Policies of the Swansea 
Local Development Plan 2010-2025.  
 
Visual Amenity 
 
The visual impact of the solar farm development as a whole has formerly been considered 
acceptable and approved under the previous full application (2014/1837). This Section 73 
application is therefore to consider the visual impact of the proposed alterations to the originally 
approved scheme, including boundary treatment, hedge planting, CCTV poles and drainage 
details. The purposes of these amended details are to provide improved security following a 
number of acts of vandalism and theft on site and the prevention of water run off erosion of the 
access tracks located within the site. 
 
It can be considered that the proposed alterations are relatively minor, especially when taking 
account of the development of the site as a whole. However it is also noted that the site is in a 
particularly sensitive location, both in the open countryside and in an area designated for 
landscaping protection (North East Gower and Cockett Valley). The application is supported by a 
Landscape and Visual Statement which concludes that with regard to Landscape, the proposed 
changes to the development are very unlikely to alter the levels of visual effect predicted within 
the previously submitted and approved Landscape and Visual Assessment. The submitted 
statement has been reviewed by the Authority's Landscaping Team and it is considered that the 
proposed details are acceptable. It is also noted that the proposals will provide a socio-economic 
benefit from improvements to the security of the site, preventing damage to the solar panels. 
  Page 19



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
The extension of the fence to encompass DNO substation building, and addition of extra gate 
would have a very limited direct physical effect on the landscape. There would be some extra 
posts in the ground, but it is considered that these would cause minimal disturbance to the ground 
and associated vegetation. Effects would relate more to a potential change in how the landscape 
is ‘perceived’ owing to its more industrial appearance; however, this area of the site is well 
screened from the surrounding landscape is not publicly accessible. This type of boundary 
treatment is also associated with infrastructure such as this within the surrounding area so is not 
considered to be out of keeping with the approved use of the site. 
 
Relocation of the planting would visually alter the appearance of the site when looking towards 
the boundaries affected and therefore how the landscape is perceived. However, successful 
establishment of planting within the boundary would provide a backdrop of vegetation to the fence 
rather than open views of it as per the current situation. As the proposed changes would facilitate 
delivery of the visual mitigation of the site, it is considered to be in line with the approved scheme 
and the proposed changes are considered acceptable. 
 
The current planning permission includes 5 CCTV poles, with an increase being required to 
provide full perimeter CCTV coverage as part of this application. Installation of the poles would 
be within the site and set into a small foundation that would have a very limited direct landscape 
effect. The poles would be at regular intervals along the boundary of the site but, at a maximum 
of 2.4 m in height, would not be imposing or protrude significantly above peripheral vegetation. In 
view of this, whilst the increase in the number of CCTV poles and cameras could be regarded as 
significant compared to what was previously approved, due to their height and location behind the 
current mesh fencing and the fact that there are already this type of development located on the 
site (albeit in a small number), it can be considered that they have become a recognised feature 
of the site since implementation, and therefore their visual impact is considered to be limited 
especially when considering the existing nature and use of the site. 
 
The proposed changes to the drainage system would physically alter the landscape, but only 
within very discrete areas that fall within the site boundary and adjacent to the internal access 
roadways. These features will capture water and therefore naturally establish a variety of flora, 
this will benefit biodiversity and have a positive effect on landscape value. The small scale and 
low-level nature of these changes mean that it is very unlikely that they would give rise to any 
noticeable change to the development, with the only long-distance views into the parts of the site 
that are affected. As such, the incorporation of these features would have no effect on the levels 
of visual effect predicted in the previously submitted Landscape and Visual Assessment. 
 
On balance and due to the existing nature and use of the site as an operational solar farm, it is 
not considered that the proposals would have any significant unacceptable impacts on the visual 
amenity of the site, nor have a significant impact on the visual character of the open countryside, 
landscape value of the Special Landscape Area or surrounding area. On that basis the proposed 
development is considered acceptable and accords with Policies PS2, ER5 and CV2 of the 
Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-2025. 
 

Residential Amenity 
 

In terms of the impact on residential amenity as a result of the proposed changes, it is not 
considered that the proposed amendments would result in any additional impact in excess of the 
existing approval.  
  

Page 20



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
The proposed alterations to increase the number of CCTV poles and cameras at the site are not 
considered to have an unacceptable impact on any neighbouring residential properties as they 
will be sited inside the boundary fence, will be positioned in a downward position, and sited away 
from the shared boundaries with existing neighbours. The proposed alterations to the fence will 
be sited away from any existing residential properties and obscured from views by existing trees 
and vegetation and the relocation of the planting will help visually screen the site from view. The 
changes to the drainage will be located within the site and will therefore have no significant 
adverse effect on the existing residential amenities of the area. In view of this, the development, 
it is not considered to result in any unacceptable impacts in regard to overbearing, overlooking or 
overshadowing, nor result in any noise and disturbance above what is currently experienced at 
the site, and therefore accords with Policy PS2 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-
2025. 
 
Highway Safety/ Active Travel 
 
The Local Highway Authority have been consulted and raise no objections to the proposed 
development. The proposal would not give rise to any highway safety or car parking concerns. 
 
Ecology 
 
Initially, the Authority’s Ecologist reviewed the submitted landscaping scheme and requested that 
the proposed hedgerow planting scheme was revised to include 5 different species in order to 
make it species rich. These changes have now been made and the Ecologist has confirmed that 
the revised landscaping scheme is acceptable. 
 
Policy 9 of Future Wales (in addition to Policy ER9 and the Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Document - Biodiversity) require 'enhancement' of biodiversity at all levels. Action shall be taken 
to secure the maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity (to provide net benefit) and 
innovative, nature-based approaches to site planning and the design of the built environment are 
required. It is noted however that this application is for a relatively minor development and 
variation of conditions, and on that basis it is not considered reasonable to require ecological 
enhancement. Furthermore, the Authority's Ecologist has not required a condition, but agreed the 
species planting to the hedges, which could in itself be considered enhancement.  
 
Green Infrastructure 
 
Future Wales Policy 9 requires all applications to demonstrate the actions that have been taken 
to maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystem resilience, as well as relevant Green 
Infrastructure assets. This policy requirement is supported by the guidance in PPW that sets out 
the requirement for a 'stepwise approach' to considering biodiversity in the planning process and 
securing overall enhancement. PPW emphasises development should consider the significant 
opportunities provided by nature based solutions to maintaining and enhancing GI. By taking this 
approach, development proposals can contribute to the "Resilient Wales" Goal of the Well Being 
of Future Generations (WBFG) Act 2015, and assist in meeting the relevant requirements of the 
SUDs guidance and legislation. It is critical therefore that proposals are assessed against Future 
Wales Policy 9, and having regard to the key placemaking, design and GI principles set out in 
Swansea LDP Policies PS 2 and ER 2 in all cases, and where relevant Policies ER 6, ER 8, ER 
9 and ER 11. 
  Page 21



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Having regard to the requirement for development to address GI principles, it is noted that any 
such requirement should be proportionate to the scale and nature of the development. In this 
instance the proposal is principally concerned with minor alterations to an existing consent (which 
has already been implemented) relating to boundary treatment and drainage. On that basis whilst 
PPW requires a GI assessment including a 'Stepwise approach' at the local level, which sets out 
potential GI net gain, it is not considered that the development justifies the requirement of GI 
provision. Furthermore, it cannot be considered that the application should be resisted over a lack 
of GI assessment in this instance.  
 
Trees 
 
The Authority's Arboriculturist/Tree officer has not raised any objections to the proposal, and it 
can be considered that the development will have an acceptable impact on nearby trees and 
therefore accords with Policies ER9 and ER11 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-
2025.  
 
Drainage 
 
Initially, the Authority's Drainage Officer raised concerns regarding the lack of information 
provided within the Surface Water Strategy. Further information has now been submitted by the 
applicant in relation to pipe diameters, pipe gradients and filter drain cross sections which has 
been reviewed by the Drainage officer and who has raised no further concern to the proposed 
drainage plans and has confirmed that the drainage details can be considered acceptable and 
therefore accords with Policy RP4 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-2025.   
 
Other Matters 
 
Given that this is a Section 73 application and involves the re-issuing of the original decision, the 
conditions associated with the original consent 2014/1837 will need to be carefully considered as 
to whether they need to be re-imposed or re-worded depending on the content. However, it is 
worth noting, that the works to construct the solar farm at the site are substantially completed and 
with conditions that have previously been discharged and subsequently no longer necessary. 
 
In that regard condition 1 is no longer required as it requires that the development commences 
within a set time period and the development has now been fully implemented on site. 
 
Condition 2 will be re-applied and amended to reflect the submitted plans to ensure they are built 
and implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Conditions 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10 and 11 were discharged under application ref: 2015/1859. Conditions 
4, 7 and 10 are under consideration in this application and it is considered that 4 and 7 and 10 
can be removed as the agreed details will be secured by the revised plans condition. It is 
considered that conditions 3 and 5 are no longer relevant as the construction works have been 
completed on site and will not be applied to any new consent. Condition 11 will be re-worded to 
ensure that the pollution prevention measures, and environmental management requirements 
previously approved within condition 11 (Construction Environmental Management Plan) of 
planning permission 2014/1837 are followed during the construction of the proposed new 
drainage system. 
  Page 22



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
Condition 6 shall be re-worded to reflect the details agreed in the aforementioned discharge of 
condition application, and Condition 8 shall be re-applied. 
 
Finally condition 9 was discharged under application ref: 2018/1296/DOC. This condition will be 
re-applied and worded to reflect the agreed details.  
 
Conclusion 
 
Having regard to all material planning considerations, including the provisions of the Human 
Rights Act, it is considered that the proposal represents an acceptable development that would 
not have an adverse impact upon visual amenity, residential amenity, highway safety, ecology, 
green infrastructure, trees and drainage, in compliance with LDP Policies: PS1, PS2, PS4, ER1, 
ER2, ER5, ER8, ER9, ER11, T1, T5, T6, EU1, EU2, EU4, RP4 and CV2 of the Swansea Local 
Development Plan 2010-2025 (LDP), and the following Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes 
(SPG) - Parking Standards and Development and Biodiversity. 
 
Regard has been given to the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under Part 2, 
Section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the WBFG Act"). In reaching 
this recommendation, the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the ways of working set 
out at Part 2, Section 5 of the WBFG Act and consider that this recommendation is in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or more of the 
public bodies' well-being objectives set out as required by Part 2, Section 9 of the WBFG Act. 
 
Recommendation 
 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 
1 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
 

Site location plan received 28th November 2014.  
 
KV substation, met mast, site fence and maintenance, solar panel configuration, 
topography, zone of theoretical visibility, received 5th December 2014.  

  
 CKT-CS-04 security system layout proposed upgrade, CKT-GL-04 PV modules layout, CV 

RLS-1 revised landscape plan, DWD 01 surface water drainage, GMC-D-04 CCTV - typical 
pole details, UK-COC 087-11 layout, UK-COC 087-30-1 client substation views received 
on 5th June 2023.  

 
S73 landscape and visual support statement, CV RLS-2 (Rev 1) revised landscape 
mitigation details received on 4th September 2023.  
 
Access road surface water drainage strategy received on 18th January 2024.  

  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 
  

Page 23



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 1 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1240/S73 

 
2 Any waste from the approved works shall be managed in accordance with the details 

agreed in application ref: 2015/1859, approved on 07/03/17.  
 Reason: To ensure waste at the site is managed in line with the Waste Hierarchy in a 

priority order of prevention, re-use, recycling before considering other recovery or disposal 
option, in accordance with Policy PS2 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-2025.   

 
3 The mitigation and management recommendations described in section 6 of the Extended 

Phase 1 Survey received 5th December 2014 (REF: 404.05027.00002) should be 
implemented as stated.  

 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and biodiversity, in accordance with Policies PS2 
and ER8 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-2025.   

 

4 The details agreed in application ref: 2018/1296/DOC, approved on 20/06/18, in regard to: 
  

(i) A scheme detailing the removal of all surface elements of the photo voltaic solar 
farm and any foundations or anchor systems to a depth of 300mm below ground 
level;  

(ii) A scheme detailing the restoration and aftercare, following consultation with such 
other parties as the Local Planning Authority considers appropriate.  

(iii) A timetable for completion of the works  
  

 Shall be implemented within 12 months from the date of the last electricity generated, 
should the site no longer be utilised for the permission hereby granted, and completed in 
accordance with the approved timetable for completion of the works.  

  

 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and to ensure the land is restored in an acceptable 
manner, in accordance with Policy PS2 of the Swansea Local Development Plan 2010-
2025.   

 

5 The construction of the proposed new drainage system hereby approved, shall be 
undertaken in accordance with the pollution prevention measures and environmental 
management requirements as stated within the approved Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) as agreed in application ref 2015/1859, approved on 07/03/17. 

 Reason: In the interest of biodiversity and to prevent pollution of controlled waters and the 
wider environment in accordance with Policies ER9 and RP4 of the of the Swansea Local 
Development Plan 2010-2025.   

  

Informatives 
 

1 The national development plan is Future Wales: The National Plan 2040.  The following 
policies were relevant to the consideration of the application: Policies  1, 2, 9 and 17. 

                

 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the Swansea Local 
Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the consideration of the 
application: Policies PS1, PS2, PS4, ER1, ER2, ER5, ER8, ER9, ER11, T1, T5, T6, EU1, 
EU2, EU4 and CV2 

 

2 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that may be 
required in connection with the proposed development. 

 

  
Page 24



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 Ward: Bonymaen - Area 1 

 

Location: Land At Pentrechwyth Road, Bonymaen, Swansea, SA1 7AB 
 

Proposal: Demolition of existing structures and construction of 34 no. affordable 
residential dwelling units, comprising 5 pairs of semi detached dwellings 
and 24no. flats in 2no. three storey blocks and associated works 
 

Applicant: Pentrechwyth Road Ltd & Caredig Housing Association   
 

 
 
 

 
Procedural Matters 
 
This application is being reported to Planning Committee as the number of dwellinghouses 
proposed is over 20. 
 

Site Location 
 

The application site comprises of a parcel of land along Pentrechwyth Road which is situated in 
the local ward of Bonymaen and within settlement limits and currently comprises of derelict, fire 
damaged commercial buildings, hard surfaced areas and scrub land.  The site will measure 
approximately 72m wide and 65m deep.  The site is sloping with an approximate land level 
difference of approximately 5m between the south and north of the site.   
 

The character of the area is primarily residential, comprising of two storey terraced dwellings 
finished in stone and render.  A new residential development is currently under construction to 
the west of the site (ref: 2007/1279).  
  

NOT TO SCALE – FOR 
REFERENCE 

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2014: 

Ordnance Survey 

100023509 

Page 25



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Description of Development 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of  34 no. affordable residential 
dwelling units, comprising 5 pairs of semi detached dwellings and 24no. flats in 2no. three storey 
blocks.  This shall comprise of 2 x no. 2 bedroom dwellings, 8 no. 3 bedroom dwellings, 12 no. 1 
bedroom flats, 8 no. 2 bedroom flats and 4 no. 1 bedroom adapted ground floor flats.  The 
dwellinghouses and flats will be finished in red and buff multi facing brickwork, black/grey roof 
tiles, black upvc windows and doors, composite front doors and solar pv panels to the front roof 
planes.  
 
The proposed blocks of three bedroom semi-detached dwellings will measure approximately 11m 
wide and 9.5m deep with the proposed blocks of two bedroom semi-detached dwellings 
measuring approximately 10m wide and 9.5m deep.  The proposed dwellings will comprise of 
pitched roofs measuring approximately 5.3m to the eaves and 8.7m to the ridge.  
 
Each block of flats, at their largest dimensions, will measure approximately 26m wide and 12.5m 
deep and will be located to the rear and at a lower land level then the dwellings to the front of the 
site.  The flats will comprise of pitched roofs measuring approximately 8.8m to the eaves and 12m 
to the ridge with entrances set back to break up the massing of the elevations.  A bin store will be 
located to the side of each block of flats.  
 
The front of the site is currently occupied by derelict, fire ruined commercial buildings, the rest of 
the site comprises of hardstanding areas and scrub land.  
 
Planning History 
 
2012/1622 - retention of car wash, valeting and tyre services - approved January 2013 
 
Planning Policy 
 
The National Development Framework: Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 
 
Future Wales sets out the Welsh Government's land use priorities and provides a national land 
use framework for SDPs and LDPs. Future Wales concentrates on development and land use 
issues of national significance, indicating areas of major opportunities and change, highlighting 
areas that need protecting and enhancing and helping to co-ordinate the delivery of Welsh 
Government policies to maximise positive outcomes. 
 

Policy 1 - Where Wales Will Grow 
Policy 2 - Shaping urban growth and regeneration - Strategic placemaking 
Policy 9 - Resilient ecological networks and Green infrastructure 
Policy 28 - National Growth Area - Swansea Bay and Llanelli 
 
Planning Policy Wales (12th Edition) 2024 
 

Good Design Making Better Places  
 

3.3 Good design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work 
and socialise.  
  Page 26



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements of 
the natural and built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable 
development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic, environmental, 
cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, how buildings and the public 
realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation, management, and its relationship 
with the surroundings area.  
 
3.4 Design is an inclusive process, which can raise public aspirations, reinforce civic pride and 
create a sense of place and help shape its future. For those proposing new development, early 
engagement can help to secure public acceptance of new development. Meeting the objectives 
of good design should be the aim of all those involved in the development process and applied to 
all development proposals, at all scales. 
 
Access and Inclusivity  
 
3.5 Good design is inclusive design. Development proposals should place people at the heart of 
the design process, acknowledge diversity and difference, offer choice where a single design 
solution cannot accommodate all users, provide for flexibility in use and provide buildings and 
environments that are convenient and enjoyable to use for everyone.  
 
3.6 Development proposals must address the issues of inclusivity and accessibility for all. This 
includes making provision to meet the needs of people with sensory, memory, learning and 
mobility impairments, older people and people with young children. There will often be wider 
benefits to be gained through the sensitive consideration of such provision, for example, whilst 
the presence of visual cues will be invaluable in assisting those with hearing loss to engage in a 
noisy environment, a navigable environment will benefit all. Good design can also encourage 
people to meet and interact with each other, helping to address issues surrounding loneliness. 
Good design must also involve the provision of measures that help to reduce the inequality of 
access to essential services, education and employment experienced by people without access 
to a car. Design measures and features should enable easy access to services by walking, cycling 
and public transport. 
 

Environmental Sustainability  
 

3.7 Good design promotes environmental sustainability and contributes to the achievement of the 
well-being goals. Developments should seek to maximise energy efficiency and the efficient use 
of other resources (including land), maximise sustainable movement, minimise the use of non-
renewable resources, encourage decarbonisation and prevent the generation of waste and 
pollution. An integrated and flexible approach to design, including early decisions regarding 
location, layout, built form, the choice of materials, the adaptability of buildings and site treatment 
will be an appropriate way of contributing to resilient development.  
 

3.8 Good design can help to ensure high environmental quality. Landscape and green 
infrastructure considerations are an integral part of the design process. Integrating green 
infrastructure is not limited to focusing on landscape and ecology, rather, consideration should be 
given to all features of the natural environment and how these function together to contribute 
toward the quality of places. This embraces the principles of 'ecosystems services' and 
sustainable management of natural resources where multiple benefits solution become an integral 
part of good design.  
  Page 27



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
In a similar manner, addressing environmental risks can make a positive contribution to 
environmental protection and improvement, addressing land contamination, instability and flood 
risk and providing for biodiversity, climate protection, improved air quality, soundscape and water 
resources benefits. 
 
Character  
 
3.9 The special characteristics of an area should be central to the design of a development. The 
layout, form, scale and visual appearance of a proposed development and its relationship to its 
surroundings are important planning considerations. A clear rationale behind the design decisions 
made, based on site and context analysis, a strong vision, performance requirements and design 
principles, should be sought throughout the development process and expressed, when 
appropriate, in a design and access statement.  
 
Community Safety  
 
3.11 Local authorities are under a legal obligation to consider the need to prevent and reduce 
crime and disorder in all decisions that they take. Crime prevention and fear of crime are social 
considerations to which regard should be given in the preparation of development plans and 
taking planning decisions. The aim should be to produce safe environments that do not 
compromise on design quality in accordance with the cohesive communities well-being goal. 
 
Movement  
 
3.12 Good design is about avoiding the creation of car-based developments. It contributes to 
minimising the need to travel and reliance on the car, whilst maximising opportunities for people 
to make sustainable and healthy travel choices for their daily journeys. Achieving these objectives 
requires the selection of sites which can be made easily accessible by sustainable modes as well 
as incorporating appropriate, safe and sustainable links (including active travel networks) within 
and between developments using legal agreements where appropriate 
 
Car Parking  
 
4.1.49 Car parking provision is a major influence on how people choose to travel and the pattern 
of development. Where and how cars are parked can in turn be a major factor in the quality of a 
place. 
 
4.1.50 A design-led approach to the provision of car parking should be taken, which ensures an 
appropriate level of car parking is integrated in a way which does not dominate the development. 
Parking provision should be informed by the local context, including public transport accessibility, 
urban design principles and the objective of reducing reliance on the private car and supporting a 
modal shift to walking, cycling and public transport. Planning authorities must support schemes 
which keep parking levels down, especially off-street parking, when well designed. The needs of 
disabled people must be recognised and adequate parking provided for them. 
 
4.1.51 Planning authorities must require good standards of car parking design, which do not allow 
vehicles to dominate the street or inconvenience people walking and cycling. Car parking should 
be overlooked by surrounding properties, to provide natural surveillance. 
  Page 28



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Integrating Green Infrastructure and Development 
 
6.2.4 Green infrastructure plays a fundamental role in shaping places and our sense of well-being, 
and are intrinsic to the quality of the spaces we live, work and play in. The planning system should 
protect and enhance green infrastructure assets and networks because of these multi-functional 
roles. The protection and enhancement of biodiversity must be carefully considered as part of 
green infrastructure provision alongside the need to meet society's wider social and economic 
objectives and the needs of local communities. The multiple benefits that resilient ecosystems 
and green infrastructure offer to society, including the economic and social contribution they make 
to local areas, should be taken into account when balancing and improving these needs. 
 
6.2.5 The quality of the built environment should be enhanced by integrating green infrastructure 
into development through appropriate site selection and use of creative design. With careful 
planning and design, green infrastructure can embed the benefits of biodiversity and ecosystem 
services into new development and places, helping to overcome the potential for conflicting 
objectives, and contributing towards health and well-being outcomes. There are multiple ways of 
incorporating green infrastructure, dependent on the needs and opportunities a site presents. 
Landscaping, green roofs, grass verges, sustainable urban drainage and gardens are examples 
of individual measures that can have wider cumulative benefits, particularly in relation to 
biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems as well as in securing the other desired 
environmental qualities of places. 
 
Adopted Swansea Local Development Plan (2010-2025) 
 
PS 1 Sustainable Places - the delivery of new homes, jobs, infrastructure and community 
facilities must comply with the plan's sustainable settlement strategy which; directs development 
to the most sustainable locations within defined settlement boundaries of the urban area and Key 
villages; requires compliance with Sustainable Housing Strategy (PS 3) and Sustainable 
Employment Strategy (PS 4); safeguards Green Wedges; and resists development in the open 
Countryside. 
 
PS 2  Placemaking and Place Management - development should enhance the quality of places 
and spaces and should accord with relevant placemaking principles. 
 
PS 3 Sustainable Housing Strategy - the Plan provides for the development of up to 15,600 
homes to promote the creation and enhancement of sustainable communities.  
 
ER 1  Climate Change - To mitigate against the effects of climate change, adapt to its impacts, 
and to ensure resilience, development proposals should take into account the climate change 
principles specified in the policy. 
 
ER 2 Strategic Green Infrastructure Network - Green infrastructure will be provided through the 
protection and enhancement of existing green spaces that afford valuable ecosystem services.   
Development that compromises the integrity of such green spaces, and therefore that of the 
overall green infrastructure network, will not be permitted. Development will be required to take 
opportunities to maintain and enhance the extent, quality and connectivity of the County's multi-
functional green infrastructure network in accordance with the green infrastructure principles set 
out in the policy. 
  Page 29



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
ER 6 Designated Sites of Ecological Importance - Development will not be permitted that would 
result in a likely significant adverse effect on the integrity of international and national designated 
sites, except in the circumstances specified in relevant legislation.  
 
Development that would adversely affect locally designated sites should maintain and enhance 
the nature conservation interest of the site.  Where this cannot be achieved development will only 
be permitted where it can be demonstrated that specified policy criteria are met. 
 
ER 8  Habitats and Species - Development proposals that would have a significant adverse effect 
on the resilience of protected habitats and species will only be permitted where they meet specific 
criteria.  
 
ER 9 Ecological Networks and Features of Importance for Biodiversity - Development proposals 
will be expected to maintain, protect and enhance ecological networks and features of importance 
for biodiversity.  Particular importance will be given to maintaining and enhancing the connectivity 
of ecological network. Development that could have an adverse effect on such networks and 
features will only be permitted where meet specific criteria are met. 
 
ER 11 Trees, Hedgerows and Development - Development that would adversely affect trees, 
woodlands and hedgerows of public amenity, natural/cultural heritage value, or that provide 
important ecosystem services will not normally be permitted.  Ancient Woodland, Ancient 
Woodland Sites, Ancient and Veteran trees merit specific protection and development that would 
result in specified outcomes will not normally be permitted.  
 
Where necessary a tree survey; arboricultural impact assessment; an arboricultural method 
statement; tree protection plan and/or scheme for tree replacement, including details of planting 
and aftercare will be required in support of a planning application. 
 
T 1  Transport Measures and Infrastructure - Development must be supported by appropriate 
transport measures and infrastructure and dependant the nature, scale and siting of the proposal, 
meet specified requirements.  Development that would have an unacceptable impact on the safe 
and efficient operation of the transport network will not be permitted. 
 
T 5  Design Principles for Transport Measures and Infrastructure - provides design criteria that 
the design of the new development, including supporting transport measures/infrastructure must 
adhere to.  
 
T 6  Parking - proposals must be served by appropriate parking provision, in accordance with 
maximum parking standards, and consider the requirements for cycles, cars, motorcycles and 
service vehicles. In those instances where adequate parking cannot be provided on site, or is 
judged not to be appropriate, the developer will be required to provide a financial contribution 
towards alternative transport measures where appropriate. 
The provision of secure cycle parking and associated facilities will be sought in all major 
development schemes. 
 
RP 4 Water Pollution and the Protection of Water Resources - development that compromises 
the quality of the water environment, or does not comply with good water resource management, 
will not be permitted.  
  Page 30



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Development proposals must make efficient use of water resources and, where appropriate, 
contribute towards improvements to water quality. Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) must be 
implemented wherever they would be effective and practicable.  Water courses will be 
safeguarded through green corridors/riparian buffers.  Development proposals that would have a 
significant adverse impact on biodiversity, fisheries, public access or water related recreation use 
of water resources, will not be permitted. 
 
RP 5 Avoidance of Flood Risk - In order to avoid the risk of flooding, development will only be 
permitted in line with Policy principles. 
 
RP6  Land Contamination - development proposals on land where there is a risk from actual or 
potential contamination or landfill gas will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that 
measures can be taken to satisfactorily overcome any significant risk to life, human health, 
property, controlled waters, or the natural and historic environment. 
 
RP 10 Sustainable Waste Management for New Development - development will be required to 
incorporate, as appropriate, adequate and effective provision for the storage, recycling and other 
sustainable management of waste, and allow for appropriate access arrangements for recycling 
and refuse collection vehicles and personnel. 
 
EU4  Public Utilities and New Development - development will be permitted where the utility 
infrastructure is adequate to meet the needs of the development. 
 
Development that requires new or improved utility infrastructure will be permitted where it can be 
satisfactorily demonstrated that the developer will make an appropriate contribution to secure the 
provision of the infrastructure. 
 
IO 1 Supporting Infrastructure - development must be supported by appropriate infrastructure, 
facilities and other requirements considered necessary as part of the proposal. 
 
H 2  Affordable Housing Strategy - provision will be made to deliver a minimum 3,310 affordable 
homes over the Plan period. 
 
H 3  Affordable Housing - sets the percentage of affordable housing provision required in the 
Strategic Housing Policy Zones, subject to consideration of financial viability. 
 
SI 1 Health and Wellbeing - health inequalities will be reduced and healthy lifestyles 
encouraged by complying with set criteria. 
 

SI 3 Education Facilities - Where residential development generates a requirement for school 
places, developers will be required to either: provide land and/or premises for new schools or 
make financial contributions towards providing new or improved school facilities.  Proposals for 
the development of new primary and secondary education must comply with specific criteria. 
 

SI 6  Provision of New Open Space -Open space provision will be sought for all residential 
development proposals in accordance with the policy principles, and in accordance with relevant 
criteria relating to design and landscaping principles.  The quantity, quality and location of the 
open space contribution required will be determined against the most recent Open Space 
Assessment and Open Space Strategy. 
  

Page 31



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Responses to Consultations 
 
Local Highway Authority 
 
The consultation commentary raised concerns with the internal gradient, further information has 
been provided which demonstrates that the maximum internal gradient is around 5%, this is within 
the maximum permitted gradients for both vehicles and pedestrians. RSA recommendations 
regarding stalling vehicles need to be addressed, but it is thought this can be ameliorated during 
detailed design, together with vertical curvature where the access road meets Pentrechwyth 
Road. 
 
Parking has been offered at a level below the SPG, it is considered that both the sustainability of 
the site and the type of tenure which typically results in lower car ownership. In addition, the 
applicant has offered additional resident's parking on Pentrechwyth Road which would provide 
benefit to existing residents. 
 
The site will remain under the control of a registered social landlord who will manage the on site 
parking, and as such an objection on the basis of lower parking provision would be difficult.  
 
4 disabled spaces have been provided, these have a 1.2m margin on 2 sides, this should be 
extended to 3 sides to make them compliant. 
 
On balance the Highway Authority does not wish to object to the application, external works to 
Pentrechwyth Road should be undertaken under a section 278 agreement with the HA, and an 
informative should be added to this effect. 
 
Local Authority Parks Department 
 
There is nowhere else in the locality that requires any funding as we have upgraded them all, I'm 
also aware that there is another planning application for a development at Brokesby Road which 
will include a LEAP/LAP so unless there is a change of mind for the LAP at the Pentrechwyth 
Road development I don't think any contribution is required.  
 
Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
The site plan/s of the above proposal has been examined and the Fire and Rescue Authority 
would wish the following comments to be brought to the attention of the planning 
committee/applicant. It is important that these matters are dealt with early on in any proposed 
development :  

 The Fire Authority has no comment to make on access for fire appliances or water supplies.  
 

 the Fire Authority has no objection to the proposed development and refers the Local 
Planning Authority to any current standing advice by the Fire Authority about the 
consultation.  

 
  

Page 32



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 
 

The developer should consider the need to provide adequate water supplies and vehicle access 
for firefighting purposes on the site and general guidance on this matter is given in the attached 
Appendix and the following links:  
https://www.water.org.uk/guidance/national-guidance-document-on-the-provision-of-water-for-
firefighting-3rd-edition-jan-2007/  
https://www.ukfrs.com/index.php/promos/16847   
 

Furthermore, the applicant should be advised to contact the Local Authority Building Control 
Department, which is the responsible authority, when determining issues concerning means of 
warning and escape, internal fire spread (linings and structure), external fire spread, access and 
facilities for the Fire and Rescue Service, in accordance with the 2007 version of Approved 
Document B (Wales). 
 

Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) 
 

In respect of the aforementioned planning application, we can confirm that Dwr Cymru Welsh 
Water have been previously informed of the proposed development and consulted, as a 'Specialist 
Consultee', in accordance with Schedule 1C Article 2D of the Town & Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (Wales) (Amendment) Order 2016. We note that our 
consultation response (Ref: PPA0007646) has been acknowledged and included at Appendix F 
of the accompanying Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) Report, prepared by Asbri Planning, 
which highlights that foul water flows can be accommodated in the public sewerage system albeit 
that the site is crossed by a 381mm combined sewer. With respect to the submitted 'Proposed 
Site Layout' (Drawing No. A112), it appears the proposed development would be situated outside 
the protection zone of the public sewer, measured 3 metres either side of the centreline. 
Nonetheless, it is still recommended that the developer contact our Plan and Protect team 
(PlanandProtect@dwrcymru.com) to carry out a survey to verify the location of this asset and 
establish its relationship to the proposed development. 
 

However, as per our PAC  response ( Ref: P PA0007646), we would advise that no SuDS features 
or permeable paving shall be positioned within the protection zone of existing or proposed 
adoptable sewers. Moreover, the submitted 'Drainage Layout' (Drawing No. N1945/C500 Rev. 
06) and 'Drainage Strategy Report' (Ref: N1945-DSR 06), indicates proposals to dispose surface 
water flows to the combined sewer and we would advise there is no agreement to communicate 
such flows. Therefore, we would object to any forthcoming SAB application and respectfully 
request that the 'Drainage Layout' and 'Drainage Strategy Report' do not form part of any 
approved plans/documents condition. 
 

Notwithstanding the above, if you are minded to grant planning consent for the above 
development, we would request that the following Condition and Advisory Notes are included 
within the consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water's assets: 
 

Condition 
 

Only foul water from the development site shall be allowed discharge to the public sewerage 
system and this discharge shall be made between manhole reference number SS66957003 and 
SS66956001 as indicated on the extract of the Sewerage Network Plan attached to this decision 
notice. 
Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health 
and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment. 
  Page 33

https://www.water.org.uk/guidance/national-guidance-document-on-the-provision-of-water-for-firefighting-3rd-edition-jan-2007/
https://www.water.org.uk/guidance/national-guidance-document-on-the-provision-of-water-for-firefighting-3rd-edition-jan-2007/
https://www.ukfrs.com/index.php/promos/16847
mailto:PlanandProtect@dwrcymru.com


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Advisory Notes 
 
As of 7th January 2019, this proposed development is subject to Schedule 3 of the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010. The development therefore requires approval of Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS) features, in accordance with the 'Statutory standards for sustainable 
drainage systems - designing, constructing, operating and maintaining surface water drainage 
systems'. It is therefore recommended that the developer engage in consultation with the City & 
County of Swansea Council, as the determining SuDS Approval Body (SAB), in relation to their 
proposals for SuDS features. Please note, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water is a statutory consultee to 
the SAB application process and will provide comments to any SuDS proposals by response to 
SAB consultation. 
 
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the public 
sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public sewer network 
is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting property boundary) 
or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first 
enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers 
and lateral drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers 
and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further 
information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com.  
 
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be recorded on 
our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and were transferred into 
public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) 
Regulations 2011. The presence of such assets may affect the proposal. In order to assist us in 
dealing with the proposal the applicant may contact Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to establish the 
location and status of the apparatus. Under the Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
has rights of access to its apparatus at all times. 
 
In accordance with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) and Technical Advice Note 12 (Design), 
the applicant is advised to take a sustainable approach in considering water supply in new 
development proposals, including utilising approaches that improve water efficiency and reduce 
water consumption. We would recommend that the applicant liaises with the relevant Local 
Authority Building Control department to discuss their water efficiency requirements. 
 
Waste Management 
 
The development of 24 x 1 bedroomed flats in 3 blocks, is estimated to generate 2,400L of total 
waste per week. To comply with Swansea Council fortnightly collection schedule the development 
would require storage capacity of 4,800 litres. Of this currently 64%, increasing to 70% by 2025 
will need to be separated for recycling. The site would need approximately 3,200L recycling bins 
(3 x 1100) and 1,600L general non-recycling waste (<2 x 1100L bins) 
 
The 2 bin compounds on site would appear large enough to accommodate the wheeled bins 
required. 
  

Page 34

http://www.dwrcymru.com/


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
However, there is no provision to allow the refuse and recycling crews to pull the wheel bins out 
of the 2 bin stores and directly to the rear of the collection vehicle. The direct path from the bin 
store to the rear of the vehicle, positioned at each end of the "T" junction would be blocked by car 
parking spaces. 
 
Local Authority Environment Officer 
 
The Japanese knotweed planning condition needs to be placed upon this application. 
 
Local Authority Tree Officer 
 
No objection. 
The tree report indicates the RPA of trees will not be affected by the cut and fill. 
 
Local Authority Ecologist 
 
Please ask for confirmation if the tree T4 will be removed (as per the recommendation in the tree 
report), and if so, has it been surveyed for bats by the ecologist? 
 
Ecological enhancements are just 'suggested' and therefore to avoid a condition, the actual specs 
need to be confirmed. Also, the location of the proposed reptile hibernaculum is not shown. 
 
Local Drainage Authority 
 
This application and design is required to be fully tested through the SAB process which we would 
recommend doing as soon as possible as SAB design requirements will/may affect the 
development. 
 
We can confirm that there have been pre-application discussions but no full application has been 
received. 
 
Schedule 3, Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 
 
Your development proposal has been identified as requiring SuDS Approval Body consent 
irrespective of any other permissions given. 
 
From 7 January 2019, all new developments more than 100m2 will require sustainable drainage 
to manage on-site surface water. Surface water drainage systems must be designed and built in 
accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage published by Welsh ministers. 
 
These systems must be approved by the local authority acting in its SuDS Approving Body (SAB) 
role before construction work begins. The SAB will have a duty to adopt compliant systems so 
long as it is built and functions in accordance with the approved proposals, including any SAB 
conditions of approval. 
 
Which legislation are we referring to? 
 
  

Page 35



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 requires surface water 
drainage for new developments to comply with mandatory National Standards for sustainable 
drainage (SuDS). Schedule 3 to the FWMA 2010 also places a duty on local authorities as SuDS 
approving body to approve, adopt and maintain systems compliant with section 17 of the 
schedule. 
 
What exactly is a SAB? 
 
The SAB is a statutory function delivered by the local authority to ensure that drainage proposals 
for all new developments of more than 1 house or where the construction area is 100m2 are 
designed and built in accordance with the national standards for sustainable drainage published 
by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The SAB is established to: 

 Evaluate and approve drainage applications for new developments where construction 
work has drainage implications, and 

 Adopt and maintain sustainable surface water drainage systems according to Section 17 
of Schedule 3 (FWMA). 

 The SAB also has powers of inspection and enforcement 

 And uses discretionary powers to offer non-statutory pre-application advice 
 
What does it mean for my development? 
 
Whether you are a developer, an agent or an individual seeking planning permission for a 
development, if your development is of more than 1 house or of 100m2 or more of construction 
area you must also seek SAB approval alongside planning approval. You will not be allowed to 
start construction until the 2 permissions are granted. 
 
Further details on how to apply and guidance can be obtained from the website 
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/sustainabledrainage  and by contacting the SuDS Approval Body via 
email Sab@swansea.gov.uk  
 
Local Authority Pollution Control 
 

No development shall commence until all the following components to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination within the site have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority:  
 

a. A preliminary risk assessment must be carried out by a suitably qualified person, which has 
identified:  

i) all previous uses  
ii) potential contaminants associated with those uses  
iii) a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors potentially 

unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
 

The risk assessment shall include a mine gas risk assessment that considers the potential for 
mine gases to exist on the site. The mine gas risk assessment shall be undertaken by a competent 
person as defined in the National Planning Policy Framework and conducted in accordance with 
'CL:AIRE - Good Practice for Risk Assessment for Coal Mine Gas Emissions; October 2021' 
  

Page 36

https://www.swansea.gov.uk/sustainabledrainage
mailto:Sab@swansea.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
b. If the preliminary risk assessment identifies potentially unacceptable risks, a site investigation, 
based on (a) to provide information for a quantitative risk assessment for all receptors that may 
be affected, including those off site.  
 
c. Based on the quantitative risk assessment results (b) , an options appraisal and remediation 
strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required, how they are to be undertaken 
and a timetable for its implementation. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and The 
Contaminated Land (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended by The Contaminated Land (Wales) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
d. A verification report providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 
that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term 
monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  
 
The site shall be developed in accordance with the approved details and timetable. 
 
Reason: In the interests of human health, public safety and residential amenity. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 Construction Noise 
 
The following restrictions should be applied to all works of demolition/ construction carried out on 
the development site: 
 
All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary shall be carried out only 
between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 hours on Mondays to Fridays and between the hours of 
08.00 and 13.00 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Public Holidays and Bank 
Holidays unless otherwise agreed through the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The Local Authority has the power to impose the specified hours by service of an enforcement 
notice under Control of Pollution Act 1974, Section 60. Any breaches of the conditions attached 
to such a notice will lead to formal action against the person[s] named on said notice. 
 
If applying for Prior consent under Control of Pollution Act 1974, section 61, please contact 
pollution@swansea.gov.uk  and ensure any application is submitted a minimum of 28 days prior 
to commencement of any works. 
 
2 Smoke/ Burning of materials 
 
No burning of any materials to be undertaken on site. 
The Local Authority has the power to enforce this requirement by service of an abatement notice. 
 
Any breaches of the conditions attached to such a notice will lead to formal action against the 
person[s] named on said notice. 
 
  

Page 37

mailto:pollution@swansea.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
3 Dust Control 
 
During construction work the developer shall operate all best practice to minimise dust arisings or 
dust nuisance from the site. This includes dust and debris from vehicles leaving the site. 
 
The Local Authority has the power to enforce this requirement by service of an abatement notice. 
 
Any breaches of the conditions attached to such a notice will lead to formal action against the 
person[s] named on said notice. 
 
4 Lighting 
 
During construction work the developer shall operate all best practice to minimise nuisance to 
local residences from on site lighting. 
 
Local Authority Education 
 
Review of the effect on Catchment Schools of Proposed Development: -  
 
Planning Application: 2023/1227/FUL land at Pentrechwyth Road Bonymaen Swansea SA1 7AB. 
34 no. affordable residential dwelling units, comprising 5 pairs of semi detached dwellings and 
(24no. one bedroom flats in 2no.  three storey blocks not included in the calculations). 
 
Primary: There is no request for developer's contribution for Welsh and English medium primary 
education at Pentrechwyth Primary and YG Y Cwm as there is currently sufficient capacity in the 
schools to accommodate this development.  
 
Secondary: The English-medium secondary school capacity is predicted to be less than 10% 
surplus capacity which leaves the school with limited flexibility, with the existing commitments. 
There is a request for FULL developer's contribution (£46,144.00) plus indexation towards 
education in respect of the English medium secondary school (Cefn Hengoed Community 
School). 
 
There is no request for developers contribution for Welsh medium secondary education at YG 
Bryn Tawe as there is currently sufficient capacity in the school to accommodate this development 
at present. 
 
It must be made clear that Education requests for contributions are assessed in accordance with 
the Supplementary Planning Guidance and are essential to enable the provision of additional 
places in schools to meet increased demand arising from developments. If requests are rejected, 
or s106 agreements varied, then this risks Education being in a position that it is unable to 
accommodate catchment area pupils in their local school. 
 
Local Authority Housing 
 
I can confirm we are supporting this proposed scheme through the Programme Development Plan 
for Welsh Government funding, as a 100% affordable housing scheme. 
  

Page 38



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
For the purposes of the Section 106 this scheme should be conditioned to the LDP policy 
compliant %, a minimum on site affordable housing provision of 10%. I support the proposed mix 
of property sizes, the affordable housing must be built to WDQR standards. 
 
Public Consultation 
 
The application was advertised via press and site notice on 28th July 2023. 
 
Two letters of objection have been received which are summarised below. 
 

 Car parking is already an issue 

 The moving of the bus stop will remove parking 

 There will be a substation next to no. 24 which will cause health issues 

 Privacy and sunlight to no. 24 will be impacted 

 The lane to the back of houses along Pentrechwyth Road will be impacted 

 Schools in the catchment areas are already oversubscribed 

 Bats and birds might be affected 

 Noise pollution while work is carried out will be an issue 

 The amount of building that is being planned on green fields around Bonymaen is 
concerning 

 
One letter of support has also been received.  
 
Main Issues 
 
The primary issues in the consideration of this application relate to the principle of residential 
development in this location, the impact upon visual and residential amenity, drainage, ecology, 
trees and highway safety.  
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and is not allocated for any particular 
use within the Swansea Local Development Plan.  The application site is located within the urban 
area where residential development is generally acceptable.  However, this is not the only criteria 
that needs to be met and careful consideration will need to be given to the appropriateness of 
residential development in this location, having regard to the siting and design of development, 
access arrangements, current and proposed land levels, impacts upon residential development 
of proposed dwellings and existing properties. 
 
Visual Amenity 
 

The application site currently comprises of derelict, fire damaged commercial buildings, hard 
surfaced areas and scrub land.  The site currently contributes very little to the visual amenity of 
the area.  The surrounding area is primarily residential in nature comprising of two storey terraced 
dwellings finished in stone and render with a residential development currently under construction 
to the west of the application site.  The site currently involves a commercial use which is not 
compatible with the surrounding residential uses.  Therefore it is considered that the 
redevelopment of the site for residential use, in principle, is acceptable.   
  

Page 39



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
The proposed dwellings will form a linear pattern of development and will broadly follow the 
established building line along Pentrechwyth Road, with the blocks of flats to the rear of the site 
at a lower land level and as such would not dominate the properties along Pentrechwyth Road.  
The proposed dwellings are two storey and are located adjacent to other two storey residential 
properties and the block of flats currently under construction to the west of the site. In addition the 
proposed dwellings are set in from the boundary with No. 24 Pentrechwyth Road and an existing 
footpath and landscaped area would provide a visual buffer from the proposed dwellings to the 
existing residential properties.  
 
The scale and massing of the buildings are considered appropriate in the context of the 
surrounding street scene. There is appropriate space between the buildings and it is not 
considered that the number of residential units proposed represents an overdevelopment of the 
site.  The proposed dwellings and apartment blocks will be finished in red and buff brick, 
black/grey tiled roof with solar pv panels and composite front doors.  It is considered that these 
materials and design of the apartment blocks and dwellings are appropriate within the surrounding 
street scene.  It is noted that both the flats and dwellings will have solar panels which will cover a 
large proportion of the front roof plane.  However this will promote renewable energy and is 
considered visually acceptable in a modern residential estate. There are air source heat pumps 
shown to the rear elevation of the dwellings which are of a relatively small size and would be 
considered visually acceptable.  However as full details of the air source heat pumps have not 
been provided, a condition requiring these details shall be imposed.  
 
It is noted that the apartment blocks are three storey with the dwellings to the front two storeys, 
however given the land level difference in this area, the three storey blocks would be situated on 
lower ground and, as such, would not dominate the dwellings to the front of the site.  It is 
considered that this relationship is acceptable in this particular instance.  
 
Details relating to some of the boundary treatments have been provided. To the front of the 
dwellings and alongside the entrance to the site will be 900mm hoop railings which will provide a 
buffer from the front of the dwellings and the road.  This is consistent with the majority of dwellings 
along Pentrechwyth Road which are set back from the pavement with low walls surrounding their 
frontage.  Between each dwelling and along the western and northern site boundary there will be 
1800mm vertical timber fence.  To the side and rear of dwelling plots 1, 6 and 7 there will be a 
1800mm brickwork wall.  It is considered that these boundary treatments are appropriate within 
the context of the site and the surrounding areas. However it is noted that the sections appear to 
indicate that additional retaining walls will be required, therefore to ensure that the development 
remains visually acceptable, a condition requiring full details of the boundary treatments, including 
any retaining features shall be imposed.  
 
No boundary treatments are shown to the areas alongside the existing footpath, although it is 
noted on the perspective views that low railings are proposed here which would be considered 
visually acceptable.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that suitable boundary treatments 
are provided, a condition requiring these details shall be imposed.  
 
Whilst it is noted that landscaped areas are shown to the proposed site plan, exact details of the 
planting of the landscaped areas have not been provided.  Therefore it is considered reasonable 
and necessary to impose a condition with regards to landscaping to ensure that suitable 
landscaping of the development is provided and retained.   
  Page 40



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
It is also considered reasonable to remove permitted development rights in relation to 
hardstandings as the proposed landscaping/low maintenance planting to the front of the dwellings 
is a feature of the development and its removal and replacement with hardstanding would impact 
the visual characteristics of the development.  
 
The proposed outbuildings to the rear gardens of the dwellings are of a suitably small scale and 
would not have an impact upon the visual character of the site or the wider surrounding street 
scene.  The proposed cycle shelters to the front of the apartment blocks are considered to be of 
an appropriate scale and design in this setting and are considered visually acceptable.  
 
There will be car parking spaces to the front of the apartment blocks and to the rear of the dwelling 
houses, however these will be broken up by grassed/landscaped areas to ensure that car parking 
and hard surfacing does not dominate the frontage.   
 
It is noted that a substation is proposed to the east of the site, although full details of this have not 
been provided.  It is considered that a relatively small substation is not an uncommon feature 
within an urban area. However a condition requiring full details of this element of the proposals 
shall be imposed.  
 
Overall therefore, it is considered, on balance, that the proposed development would positively 
respond to the mixed context and built form in the area and would not conflict with the thrust of 
LDP Policy PS2 which, amongst other things, states that development should enhance the quality 
of places and spaces and respond positively to aspects of local context and character that 
contribute towards a sense of place.  Having regard to the current condition of the site the 
proposals would have a positive visual impact.  The proposal would also broadly align with the 
guidance with the Placemaking Guidance for Residential Development'.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
There will be 16 no. 1 bedroom flats (4 of which are to be adapted) and 8 no. 2 bedroom flats.  
The submitted design and access statement notes that the 1 bedroom flats will be used by two 
people with the two bedroom flats used by three people.  The Placemaking Guidance for 
Residential Development states that a two person, one bedroom common access flat should have 
an internal footprint of at least 50m2.  The proposed one bedroom flats will have an internal 
footprint of between approximately 50m2 and 58m2 and therefore meet this requirement.  The 
Placemaking Guidance for Residential Development states that a three person two bedroom 
common access flat should have an internal footprint of at least 58m2.  The proposed two 
bedroom flats have an internal footprint of approximately 58m2 and therefore meet this 
requirement.  It is therefore considered that the proposed flats will have sufficient internal living 
space.  It is also considered that the proposed flats will have sufficient light and outlook given the 
proposed number and positioning of windows and doors.   
 
The proposed flats will each have Juliet balconies to the front elevation, serving their living areas.  
The Placemaking Guidance for Residential Development states that all flats should have full 
balconies and where this is not possible Juliet balconies should be provided.  The applicant has 
provided justification as to why full balconies would not be viable in this particular instance.   
 
  

Page 41



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
The applicant has also stated that Juliet balconies have not been provided to the rear elevation 
as it is north facing and WDQR standards require certain internal standards such as the internal 
arrangements and if another Juliet balcony were to be incorporated these layouts would not be 
possible.  It is considered, on balance, that the Juliet balconies to the front elevation are suitable 
in this particular instance.   
 
The proposed flats will have communal rear space which will comprise of drying areas and areas 
for sitting out and relaxing.  There will also be two areas of open space to the front of the blocks 
which will have benches and play equipment.  It is also noted that Brokesby Road playground and 
an area of open space is within approximately 300m of the application site which also weighs in 
favour of the proposals.  The combination of these spaces, on balance, provides an acceptable 
provision of external amenity space for the future occupiers of the development.  
 
There will be 2 no. 2 bedroom dwellings and 8 no. 3 bedroom dwellings.  The design and access 
statement notes that the two bedroom dwellings will be used by 4 people and the three bedroom 
dwellings will be used by 5 people.  The Placemaking Guidance for Residential Development 
states that a two bedroom four person dwelling should have an internal footprint of at least 83m2.  
The proposed two bedroom dwellings will have an internal footprint of approximately 84m2. The 
Placemaking Guidance for Residential Development states that a three bedroom five person 
dwelling should have an internal footprint of at least 93m2.  The proposed three bedroom 
dwellings have an internal footprint of approximately 93m2.  It is therefore considered that the 
proposed dwellings will have sufficient internal living space. It is also considered that the proposed 
flats will have sufficient light and outlook given the proposed number and positioning of windows 
and doors.   
 
The rear gardens for the dwellings are considered to be of appropriate sizes and would comprise 
of sufficient space for future occupiers to site out, dry clothes and undertake general domestic 
activities.  The submitted sections show that large parts of the garden areas would be generally 
level and would therefore provide useable areas.  The dwellings can be accessed from the front 
from Pentrechwyth Road or from the rear via the car parking areas.  It is considered reasonable 
to remove permitted development rights in relation to extensions and outbuildings to ensure that 
the residential amenity of neighbouring and future occupiers is retained.  
 
There is approximately 31m from the rear of the dwellings to the front of the apartment blocks.  
This is considered to represent a sufficient separation distance to ensure that no amenity 
concerns will arise between the flats and dwellings.  
 
There is currently a residential development under construction to the west of the site (ref: 
2007/1279).  This development is located along the boundary with the site, however given the 
siting of the proposed dwellings it is not considered that any undue overbearing or overshadowing 
impacts would arise to one another.  It is also noted, from perusing the plans associated with the 
2007/1279 application that to the ground floor and first floor side elevation there will be two 
windows which will serve the kitchen areas of separate flats.  The ground floor windows would be 
obscured by any boundary treatment and the flats comprise of an open plan living arrangement, 
it is not therefore considered that boundary treatments here would unduly impact the residential 
amenity of the occupiers of these flats.  It is also not considered that any undue overlooking would 
arise from these ground floor windows to the proposed adjacent dwelling.   
  

Page 42



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
The first floor windows serving kitchens would provide some views of the garden area of the 
nearest proposed dwelling.  These windows are however relatively small and are angled in such 
a way as they would not overlook the dwellings themselves. Occupiers of the new dwellings will 
be aware of this arrangement from the outset, but also regard is given to a degree of mutual 
overlooking existing between established properties in this particular urban area. Having regard 
to these factors and noting that the proposal would result in the removal of the existing non-
conforming use within the application site, it is considered that the overall level of amenities of 
existing neighbouring properties and future occupiers would, on balance, be acceptable in this 
instance. 
 
There are rooflights to the side elevation of the residential development currently under 
construction, however these will not provide any significant or unreasonable downward views to 
the neighbouring property and are not considered to have an impact upon the residential amenity 
of the proposed adjacent dwelling.  
 
There are no first floor windows proposed to the side elevations of plots 1-5 and plots 8-10.  This 
will ensure that no overlooking to each other or existing properties will occur.  Plots 6 and 7 have 
ground floor and first floor side windows, however as these are corner plot dwellings abutting the 
entrance to the site, these windows provide visual interest and it is not considered, given the 
intervening road, that these windows would overlook one another.  
 
No. 24 Pentrechwyth Road has a glazed door on the side elevation facing the application site but 
does not have any windows directly facing the site. It is therefore considered that this arrangement 
would not result in unreasonable loss of privacy and amenity.  The proposed development is set 
away from the boundary with No. 24 and intervened by an existing path.  This provides a good 
buffer between the dwellings and it is considered that No. 24 is of a sufficient distance from the 
site boundary that no overbearing or overshadowing impacts would occur to one another.   
 
There is a sub station proposed within the development, however there is no evidence to suggest 
that the sub station would result in health issues and is located some distance from the proposed 
properties and No. 24.  Full details of the proposed sub station will however be conditioned.  
 
There will be landscaped areas to the front of the apartment blocks which will provide a buffer 
between parked cars and the habitable rooms of the ground floor flats.  It is considered that these 
areas would provide a sufficient buffer in protecting the residential amenity of the future occupiers 
of the flats from the comings and goings and headlights of the vehicles. The level of amenity would 
be comparable to other nearby properties fronting this street. 
 
The overall arrangement of the car parking spaces, to the front of the apartment blocks and to the 
rear of the dwellings are laid out in such a way so as there would be natural surveillance to the 
car parking areas which is welcomed.  
 
It is noted that there is pedestrian footpath alongside the application site, it is considered that 
subject to final boundary treatments along this boundary, there would remain suitable natural 
surveillance to this area and it would not be adversely impacted by the proposals.  The lane to 
the rear of properties along Pentrechwyth Road is private. Pedestrian access would not be 
affected by the proposals and any rights of vehicular access is a private matter and not a 
significant material consideration in the determination of this application. 
  Page 43



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Therefore in light of the above it is considered that the proposals represent an acceptable form of 
development which would provide for suitable living conditions for the future occupiers of the 
development and would not have a detrimental impact upon the existing neighbouring properties.  
 
Ecology and Trees 
 
A bat survey was submitted with the application which found that there was no evidence of bats, 
nesting birds or owl activity within the site.  A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has also been 
submitted which found no signs of European protected species on the site but Invasive Non-
Native Species (INNS) were found within the site.  A condition requiring a scheme for the 
eradication of INNS shall therefore be imposed.  
 
In response to the query raised by the Local Authority Ecologist the applicant has confirmed that 
Tree T4 will not be removed as part of the proposals.  
 
A Tree Report has been submitted with the application which indicates that the root protection 
area of the existing trees will not be impacted by the proposals.  The Council's Tree Officer raises 
no objection to the proposals. However a condition with regards to tree protection measures shall 
be imposed.  
 
Policy 9 of Future Wales states that in all cases, action towards securing the maintenance and 
enhancement of biodiversity (to provide a net benefit), the resilience of ecosystems and green 
infrastructure assets must be demonstrated. Policy ER 9 of the LDP supports this and states that 
proposals will be expected to maintain, protect and enhance ecological networks and features of 
importance for biodiversity.  Whilst ecological enhancements have been suggested these have 
not been shown on any elevations, therefore a condition requiring full details of the ecological 
enhancements and a timetable for their implementation shall be imposed.  
 
In light of the above and having regard to the comments received from the planning ecologist and 
tree officer, it is not considered that the proposed development would conflict with the LDP Policies 
ER8, ER9, ER11 or the 'Biodiversity and Development' SPG. 
 
Drainage 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) do not object to the application and suggest that a condition 
and advisory notes are placed on any grant of planning permission.  A condition with regards to 
foul drainage shall be imposed.  Surface water drainage will be dealt with via separate legislation 
through the SuDS Approval Body consent process.  
 
In light of the above, it is not considered the development would fundamentally conflict with LDP 
Policies RP4, RP5 or EU4. 
 
Highway Safety and Car Parking 
 
The Local Highway Authority raises no objections to the proposal.  
 
The maximum internal gradient will be approximately 5%, this is within the maximum permitted 
gradients for both vehicles and pedestrians and is therefore acceptable.  
  Page 44



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Thirty nine car parking spaces are proposed as part of the development.  The Parking Standards 
SPG requires one car parking space per bedroom up to a maximum of three spaces.  The 
applicant has provided a sustainability matrix which demonstrates that given the location of the 
site a reduction in car parking of one space per unit is appropriate.  It is considered that the 
combination of the sustainability of the site and the type of tenure, which typically results in lower 
car ownership, means that, on balance, the level of car parking proposed is acceptable in this 
particular instance.  Furthermore there are on street resident spaces proposed to the front of the 
site, alongside the existing bus stop.  It has been demonstrated that the existing bus stop will be 
retained and the resident car parking spaces will not impact its use.  
 
A condition with regards to the construction of the access and internal road shall be imposed to 
ensure that a comprehensive scheme is brought forward.  
 
The external works to Pentrechwyth Road should be undertaken under a section 278 agreement 
with the Local Highway Authority, an informative note to this effect shall be placed on any decision.   
 
There is considered to be sufficient cycle and refuse storage for the proposed development and 
a condition requiring their implementation and retention shall be imposed.  
 
It is noted that the Council's Waste Management team raise concerns regarding the collection of 
waste from the proposed bin stores due to the location of the bin stores and car parking spaces.  
However it is considered that there is sufficient space for the refuse and recycling vehicles to enter 
the site and the crews can access the bin stores, notwithstanding the location of the car parking 
spaces.  It is considered that the proposed arrangement is acceptable.  
 
Therefore having regard to the above it is considered that the proposals accord with Policies PS2, 
T1, T5 and T6 of the LDP.  
 
Land Contamination 
 
With regards to land contamination, part of the northern area of the site is historic contaminated 
land.  Therefore the Council's Pollution Control department have requested that conditions in 
association with land contamination be placed on any grant of planning permission.  
 
Contributions 
 
LDP Policy H3 Affordable Housing sets out a range of targets for providing affordable housing on 
site as part of residential proposals, which are dependent on the Strategic Housing Policy Zone 
that applies and having regard to matters of financial viability. In this case the application is in the 
East Strategic Housing Policy Zone.  
 
In the East Strategic Housing Policy Zone there is a target for a minimum of 10% of the total 
number of dwellings provided on site to be affordable homes. The scheme proposes 100% 
affordable housing.  The provision of affordable housing will be secured via a S106 legal 
agreement.   
 
  

Page 45



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
In terms of open space provision Policy SI6 states "open space provision will be sought for all 
residential development proposals with capacity for 10 or more units. This will include the creation 
of new on-site facilities, or the improvement of existing local provision off-site, along with 
appropriate maintenance contributions".  The development will comprise of two areas of dedicated 
open space which will have benches and play equipment.  Whilst these areas are relatively small, 
they are considered appropriate in this particular instance given that the Council's Parks 
Department have not raised any objections or requested any off site contributions.  A condition 
will be imposed to ensure that the proposed benches and play equipment is installed before the 
occupation of the development and is retained.  
 
In terms of education contributions, the Council's Education Department have requested 
contributions in the amount of £46,144 towards education in respect of the English medium 
secondary school (Cefn Hengoed Community School), which shall be secured by a S106 legal 
agreement.  The applicant considers that as the scheme is 100% affordable and consider that 
most potential occupiers already residing in the locality and their children in attendance at local 
schools.  They consider that the anticipated pupil yield as a result of the development will be lower 
than calculated.  The applicant also considers that the available places at Pentrehafod School 
should also be taken into consideration.  
 
However the Council's Education Department have confirmed that the Planning Obligations SPG 
does not differentiate between education contributions for affordable housing or otherwise.  It 
cannot be pre-determined whether families moving to the development will already be in the local 
education system.  The site sits within the Cefn Hengoed Comprehensive catchment and 
therefore the capacity at Pentrehafod Comprehensive School is not relevant.  It is not considered 
that any reasonable justification has been provided as to why the requested education 
contributions should be reduced. On that basis, the full amount towards education provision will 
be required and subject to the completion of a legal agreement. 
 
Response to public consultations 
 
The issues raised with regards to residential amenity, access, car parking, the bus stop, bats, 
birds, ecology, the substation and school places have been addressed in the main body of this 
report.  
 
Objections have been raised with regards to building on green spaces throughout Bonymaen, the 
current application does not propose development on areas of green space.  It is considered that 
the site is previously developed land, Planning Policy Wales defines previously developed land 
as "Previously developed (also known as brownfield) land is that which is or was occupied by a 
permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and associated fixed surface 
infrastructure."  
 
With regards to noise whilst the building work is being carried out, the Council's Pollution Control 
Department have requested that informative notes be placed on any grant of planning permission.  
Notwithstanding this, a condition requiring the submission of a Construction Management Plan 
would assist in minimising impacts on neighbouring properties. 
 
  

Page 46



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Conclusions 
 
In conclusion it is considered that the proposals represent an acceptable form of development.  
The proposals will create residential development which will have a positive visual impact upon 
the street scene, having particular regard to the derelict condition of the site currently.   
 
The proposed development, on balance, is considered to create dwellings and flats which would 
provide for suitable internal and external living arrangements.  The proposals are also not 
considered to have a detrimental impact upon the residential amenity of surrounding uses.  It has 
also been demonstrated that the proposals would not have a detrimental impact upon drainage, 
ecology, trees and highway safety.  Approval is therefore recommended.  
 
Regard has been given to the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under Part 2, 
Section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 ("the WBFG Act").  In 
reaching this recommendation, the Local Planning Authority has taken account of the ways of 
working set out at Part 2, Section 5 of the WBFG Act and consider that this recommendation is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution towards one or 
more of the public bodies' well-being objectives set out as required by Part 2, Section 9 of the 
WBFG Act.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve subject to the conditions indicated below and the applicant entering in to a S106 
Planning Obligation in respect of the following requirements: 
 
o To provide 4 x affordable units on site 
o The affordable housing to be to WDQR standards and social rented tenure 
o Education contributions in the amount of £46,144 plus indexation 
 
If the Section 106 agreement is not signed within 3 months of the date of the Committee 
resolution, then delegated powers be given to the Head of Planning and City Regeneration 
to exercise discretion to refuse the application. 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the date of 

this decision. 
 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990. 
2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and 

documents:  
  
 A110 REV A site location plan 
 A117 REV D floor plan - flats 
 A118 REV D elevations - flats 
 A119 REV C context elevations 
 A120 REV C proposed site sections 
 A122 REV C bin store details 
 A123 typical cycle shelter details, received 13th July 2023 
  Page 47



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

  
 A121 REV D garden shed details 
 A135 elevations sheet 2 - houses, received 21st July 2023 
  
 N1945/C600 REV 05 cut and fill plan, received 10th October 2023 
  
 N1945/C702 REV 09 proposed levels plan 
 N1945/C710 REV 01 sections at open area west of apartment block 
 N1945/C711 REV 01 location of sections, received 21st November 2023 
  
 LPG 01 amenity area proposals, received 19th January 2024 
  
 A115 REV H floor plan - houses 
 A116 REV I elevations - houses, received 22nd February 2024. 
  
 A112 REV V proposed site layout, received 23rd February 2023. 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure compliance with the approved plans. 
 
3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 1995, (or any Order revoking or amending that Order), Classes A, E 
and F of Schedule 2, Part 1 shall not apply to any dwellings hereby approved.  

 Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenities, in accordance with Policy PS2 
of the Swansea LDP. 

 
4 Prior to the first beneficial occupation of any unit hereby approved, the parking areas to 

serve the development shall be provided as indicated on the approved drawings and shall 
thereafter be retained for parking purposes only and shall be used for no other purpose for 
the lifetime of the development. 

 Reason: To ensure satisfactory parking provision is available to serve the development in 
the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies T5 and T6 of the adopted 
Swansea Local Development Plan (2010-2025). 

 
5 Prior to the occupation of any residential units hereby approved, the required access from 

the existing public highway, the internal road and footways shall be laid out and constructed 
strictly in accordance with the plans herewith approved, to at least the base course levels.  

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policies PS2, T1 and T5 of 
the Swansea LDP. 

 
6 Prior to the beneficial occupation of the development the storage facilities for refuse and 

bicycles as indicated on plan no. A112 REV V proposed site layout, A122 REV C bin store 
details and A123 typical cycle shelter details, shall be provided and made available for the 
beneficial use of the residents and shall thereafter be retained and not used for any other 
purpose in perpetuity. 

 Reason: In the interests of sustainability and to encourage alternative forms of transport 
and to safeguard the visual amenity of the locality and the residential amenities of future 
occupiers in accordance with Swansea's Local Development Plan Policies PS2 and T6. 

  

Page 48



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
7 No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority a fully detailed scheme of landscaping including species, 
spacings and height when planted of all new planting. The scheme shall include indications 
of all existing trees (including spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify 
those to be retained and set out measures for their protection throughout the course of 
development. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 
landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the first 
beneficial occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of 
the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. 

 Reason: In the interests of maintaining a suitable scheme of landscaping to protect the 
visual amenity of the area, to maintain the special qualities of the landscape and habitats 
through the protection, creation and enhancement of links between sites and their 
protection for amenity, landscape and biodiversity value, in accordance with Policy PS2 of 
the Swansea LDP. 

 
8 Prior to the commencement of development a detailed scheme for the eradication of 

Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, and shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 

 Reason:  In the interests of the ecology and amenity of the area, in accordance with Policies 
PS2, ER8 and ER9 of the Swansea LDP. 

 
9 Prior to the beneficial occupation of any unit hereby approved the informal play areas as 

shown on plan nos. A112 REV V proposed site layout and LPG01 amenity area proposals 
shall be implemented and retained as such for the lifetime of the development. 

 Reason: In the interests of residential amenity, in accordance with Policy PS2 of the 
Swansea LDP. 

 
10 No development shall take place until details of the open space management company 

and an open space maintenance and management responsibility plan has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

  
 The information shall include the following:  

a) Landscape Maintenance and Management Scheme for the open spaces shown on plan 
no.  A112 REV V proposed site layout 

b) Details of the management company (agent, body or organisation) responsible for 
implementation of the Landscape Management Scheme; and the legal and funding 
mechanism(s) by which delivery of the Landscape Maintenance and Management 
Scheme will be secured for the lifetime of the proposed development. The open spaces 
shown on plan no. A112 REV V proposed site layout, shall then be managed by the 
approved company and maintained in accordance with the approved details and plan 
for the lifetime of the approved development. 

   
 Reason: In the interests of visual and general amenities and ecology/biodiversity and to 

ensure that the landscape proposals are managed and maintained in accordance with 
Policies PS2 and SI6 of the Swansea LDP. 

  Page 49



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
11 No development, to include demolition and site preparation, shall commence until a 

Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP shall include details of the 
following during development: 

  
a) dust suppression measures; 
b) wheel wash facilities; 
c) noise mitigation measures; 
d) details of temporary lighting; 
e) details of enclosure of working areas; 
f) details of contractor parking areas and construction site accesses; 
g) details of delivery routes and phasing/programming of site works; 
h) a drainage strategy to operate setting out controls of contamination, including controls 

to surface water run off, water pumping, storage of fuels and hazardous materials, spill 
response plans and pollution control measures. 

i) pollution prevention and contingency measures. 
  
 The CEMP shall be implemented for the entire duration of the construction phase of the 

approved development. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of amenities and highway/pedestrian safety, in accordance with 

Policies PS2, T1 and T5 of the Swansea LDP. 
 
12 Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the commencement of development, a 

scheme of Ecological Enhancement Measures and an Implementation Timetable shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Ecological 
Enhancement shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme and 
Implementation Timetable and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.   

 Reason: In the interests of biodiversity and to provide a net benefit to biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy 9 of Future Wales and ER 9 of the Swansea Local Development 
Plan (2010-2025). 

 
13 No development shall commence until all the following components to deal with the risks 

associated with contamination within the site have been submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority:  

  
 a. A preliminary risk assessment must be carried out by a suitably qualified and competent 

person, which has identified:  
 i) all previous uses  
 ii) potential contaminants associated with those uses  
 iii) a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors potentially 

unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.  
  
 The risk assessment shall include a mine gas risk assessment that considers the potential 

for mine gases to exist on the site. The mine gas risk assessment shall be undertaken by 
a suitably qualified and competent person and conducted in accordance with 'CL:AIRE - 
Good Practice for Risk Assessment for Coal Mine Gas Emissions; October 2021'. 

  
  Page 50



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
 b. If the preliminary risk assessment identifies potentially unacceptable risks, a site 

investigation, based on (a) to provide information for a quantitative risk assessment for all 
receptors that may be affected, including those off site.  

  
 c. Based on the quantitative risk assessment results (b) , an options appraisal and 

remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures required, how they are 
to be undertaken and a timetable for its implementation. The scheme must ensure that the 
site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990 and The Contaminated Land (Wales) Regulations 2006, as amended by The 
Contaminated Land (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2012, in relation to the intended 
use of the land after remediation. 

  
 d. A verification report providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 

demonstrate that the works set out in (c) are complete and identifying any requirements for 
longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements for 
contingency action.  

  
 The site shall be developed in accordance with the approved details and timetable. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of human health, public safety and residential amenity, in 

accordance with Policies PS2 and RP6 of the Swansea LDP.  
 
14 If, during development contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 

site then no further development shall be carried out until the developer has submitted to, 
and obtained written approval from, the Local Planning Authority for, an amendment to the 
approved remediation strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt 
with and a timetable for its implementation. The site shall then be developed in accordance 
with the approved details and timetable. 

 Reason: In the interests of human health, public safety and residential amenity, in 
accordance with Policies PS2 and RP6 of the Swansea LDP.  

 
15 Prior to the commencement of development, full details of the proposed sub station as 

shown on plan no. A112 REV V proposed site layout, shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, thereafter the proposed sub station shall be 
constructed in accordance with these details and retained as such for the lifetime of the 
development.  

 Reason: In the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Policy PS2 of the Swansea 
LDP. 

 
16 Notwithstanding the submitted details and prior to the beneficial occupation of any unit 

hereby approved, full details of the proposed air source heat pumps to the dwellings, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the air 
source heat pumps shall be installed in accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: In the interest of visual and residential amenity, in accordance with Policy PS2 of 
the Swansea LDP. 

  

Page 51



Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
17 Only foul drainage associated with the development hereby approved shall connect to the 

public (mains) sewerage network and this discharge shall be made between manhole 
reference number SS66957003 and SS66956001 as shown on Welsh Water plan (ref: 
PLA0074459, dated 3rd August 2023) . The foul drainage infrastructure shall be completed 
prior to the beneficial occupation of any of the units hereby approved and retained as such 
in perpetuity. 

 Reason: To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the 
health and safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the 
environment, in accordance with Policy RP4 of the Swansea LDP. 

 
18 Notwithstanding the submitted details prior to the commencement of development a plan 

indicating the positions, height, design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be 
erected, including any retaining structures, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatment shall be completed as approved 
before any unit hereby approved is occupied and shall thereafter be retained as such.  

 Reason: In the interest of maintaining a satisfactory scheme of landscaping and to protect 
the visual amenity of the area, in accordance with Policy PS2 of the LDP. 

 
19 No development shall commence until the tree protection measures as identified within the 

Tree Constraints Plan within Appendix II of the submitted Tree Report have been laid out 
and retained in accordance with the approved details for the entirety of the construction 
phase of the development. 

 Reason:  To prevent detrimental impact to trees and other landscape features which 
contribute to the amenity, landscape and biodiversity of the site and surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policies PS2 and ER11 of the Swansea LDP. 

 
Informatives 
 
1 The national development plan is Future Wales: The National Plan 2040.  The following 

policies were relevant to the consideration of the application: 
    
 Policy 1 - Where Wales Will Grow 
 Policy 2 - Shaping urban growth and regeneration - Strategic placemaking 
 Policy 9 - Resilient ecological networks and Green infrastructure 
 Policy 12 - Regional Connectivity 
 Policy 28 - National Growth Area - Swansea Bay and Llanelli 
    
 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the Swansea Local 

Development Plan. The following policies were relevant to the consideration of the 
application: PS1, PS2, PS3, ER2, ER8, ER9, ER11, T1, T5, T6, EU4, RP4, RP5, RP7, 
RP10 , IO1, H2, H3, SI1, SI3 and SI6. 

 
2 The developer must contact the Highway Management Group, The City and County of 

Swansea, Guildhall, Swansea SA1 4PE before carrying out any work. Please email 
networkmanagement@swansea.gov.uk  or telephone 01792 636091. 

 
  

Page 52

mailto:networkmanagement@swansea.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
3 Under the provisions of Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, your 

development may require Sustainable Drainage Approval before any construction work 
commences. Further details can be found on the Authority's website:- 
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/sustainabledrainage and the SuDS Approval Team can be 
contacted via SAB.Applications@swansea.gov.uk  for further advice and guidance. 

 
4 The Council is responsible for the naming and numbering of streets within the 

administrative area.  All new property addresses or changes to existing addresses arising 
from development for which planning consent is sought must be cleared through the 
Council's Street Naming and Numbering Officer as soon as building work commences. 
Street naming and numbering proposals must be agreed with the Council prior to 
addresses being created or revised.  Please note that there is a charge for the provision of 
some street naming and numbering services. 

  
 For further information please visit https://www.swansea.gov.uk/streetnamingnumbering  

or contact the Council's Street Naming and Numbering Officer Tel: 01792 637127; email 
snn@swansea.gov.uk   

 
5 Construction Noise 
  
 The following restrictions should be applied to all works of demolition/ construction carried 

out on the development site: 
  
 All works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary shall be carried 

out only between the hours of 08.00 and 18.00 hours on Mondays to Fridays and between 
the hours of 08.00 and 13.00 hours on Saturdays and at no time on Sundays and Public 
Holidays and Bank Holidays unless otherwise agreed through the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 The Local Authority has the power to impose the specified hours by service of an 

enforcement notice under Control of Pollution Act 1974, Section 60. Any breaches of the 
conditions attached to such a notice will lead to formal action against the person[s] named 
on said notice. 

  
 If applying for Prior consent under Control of Pollution Act 1974, section 61, please contact 

pollution@swansea.gov.uk  and ensure any application is submitted a minimum of 28 days 
prior to commencement of any works. 

  
 Smoke/ Burning of materials 
  
 No burning of any materials to be undertaken on site. 
 The Local Authority has the power to enforce this requirement by service of an abatement 

notice. 
  
 Any breaches of the conditions attached to such a notice will lead to formal action against 

the person[s] named on said notice. 
  
  
  

Page 53

mailto:SAB.Applications@swansea.gov.uk
https://www.swansea.gov.uk/streetnamingnumbering
mailto:snn@swansea.gov.uk
mailto:pollution@swansea.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 5th March 2024 
 

Item 2 (Cont’d)  Application Number: 2023/1227/FUL 

 
Dust Control 

  
 During construction work the developer shall operate all best practice to minimise dust 

arisings or dust nuisance from the site. This includes dust and debris from vehicles leaving 
the site. 

  
 The Local Authority has the power to enforce this requirement by service of an abatement 

notice. 
  
 Any breaches of the conditions attached to such a notice will lead to formal action against 

the person[s] named on said notice. 
  
 Lighting 
  
 During construction work the developer shall operate all best practice to minimise nuisance 

to local residences from on site lighting. 
 
6 The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection to the 

public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to the public 
sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond the connecting 
property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one property), it is now a 
mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104 Adoption Agreement (Water 
Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral drains must also conform to the 
Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers and Lateral Drains, and conform with 
the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th Edition. Further information can be obtained via 
the Developer Services pages of www.dwrcymru.com.  

  
 The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be 

recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned and 
were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes for 
Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. The presence of such assets may affect 
the proposal. In order to assist us in dealing with the proposal the applicant may contact 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to establish the location and status of the apparatus. Under the 
Water Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus at 
all times. 

  
 In accordance with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) and Technical Advice Note 12 

(Design), the applicant is advised to take a sustainable approach in considering water 
supply in new development proposals, including utilising approaches that improve water 
efficiency and reduce water consumption. We would recommend that the applicant liaises 
with the relevant Local Authority Building Control department to discuss their water 
efficiency requirements. 

 

 

Page 54

http://www.dwrcymru.com/


 
 

Report of the Chief Legal Officer 
 

Planning Committee – 5 March 2024 
 

Exclusion of the Public 
 

Purpose: 
 

To consider whether the Public should be excluded from 
the following items of business. 

Policy Framework: 
 

None. 
 

Consultation: 
 

Legal. 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) The public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the following 
item(s) of business on the grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as set out in the Paragraphs listed below of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007 subject 
to the Public Interest Test (where appropriate) being applied. 

 Item No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 

 7 17 

Report Author: 
 

Democratic Services 

Finance Officer: 
 

Not Applicable 

Legal Officer: 
 

Tracey Meredith – Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer) 

 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local 

Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, allows a 
Principal Council to pass a resolution excluding the public from a meeting 
during an item of business. 

 
1.2 Such a resolution is dependant on whether it is likely, in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members 
of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to them 
of exempt information, as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

 
2. Exclusion of the Public / Public Interest Test 
 
2.1 In order to comply with the above mentioned legislation, Cabinet will be 

requested to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the 
item(s) of business identified in the recommendation(s) to the report on the 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



grounds that it / they involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
set out in the Exclusion Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. 

 
2.2 Information which falls within paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 18 of Schedule 12A 

of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended is exempt information if and 
so long as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 

 
2.3 The specific Exclusion Paragraphs and the Public Interest Tests to be applied 

are listed in Appendix A. 
 
2.4 Where paragraph 16 of the Schedule 12A applies there is no public interest 

test.  Councillors are able to consider whether they wish to waive their legal 
privilege in the information, however, given that this may place the Council in a 
position of risk, it is not something that should be done as a matter of routine. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The legislative provisions are set out in the report. 
 
4.2 Councillors must consider with regard to each item of business set out in 

paragraph 2 of this report the following matters: 
 
4.2.1 Whether in relation to that item of business the information is capable of being 

exempt information, because it falls into one of the paragraphs set out in 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended and reproduced 
in Appendix A to this report. 

 
4.2.2 If the information does fall within one or more of paragraphs 12 to 15, 17 and 

18 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended,  the 
public interest test as set out in paragraph 2.2 of this report. 

 
4.2.3 If the information falls within paragraph 16 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 in considering whether to exclude the public members 
are not required to apply the public interest test but must consider whether 
they wish to waive their privilege in relation to that item for any reason. 

 
Background Papers:  None. 
Appendices:               Appendix A – Public Interest Test. 

Page 56



Appendix A 
 

Public Interest Test 
 

No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

12 Information relating to a particular individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 12 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
to make this information public would disclose personal data relating to an 
individual in contravention of the principles of the Data Protection Act.  
Because of this and since there did not appear to be an overwhelming public 
interest in requiring the disclosure of personal data they felt that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing 
the information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining 
the public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the 
public from this part of the meeting. 

  

13 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 13 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the individual involved was entitled to privacy and that there was no overriding 
public interest which required the disclosure of the individual’s identity.  On that 
basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked to 
consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they must 
decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the meeting. 

  

14 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information). 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 14 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that: 

 

a)   Whilst they were mindful of the need to ensure the transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them in relation to 
the spending of public money, the right of a third party to the privacy of 
their financial / business affairs outweighed the need for that information to 
be made public; or 

 

b)   Disclosure of the information would give an unfair advantage to tenderers   
for commercial contracts. 

 

This information is not affected by any other statutory provision which requires 
the information to be publicly registered. 

 

On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  Members are asked 
to consider this factor when determining the public interest test, which they 
must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of the 
meeting. 

  

 

 

Page 57



No. Relevant Paragraphs in Schedule 12A 
  

15 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or 
contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any 
labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the 
Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 15 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
whilst they are mindful of the need to ensure that transparency and 
accountability of public authority for decisions taken by them they were 
satisfied that in this case disclosure of the information would prejudice the 
discussion in relation to labour relations to the disadvantage of the authority 
and inhabitants of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.  Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the 
public interest test, which they must decide when considering excluding the 
public from this part of the meeting. 

  

16 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

 No public interest test. 
  

17 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) To give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 

(b) To make an order or direction under any enactment. 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 17 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by the public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting.  

  

18 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime 

 The Proper Officer (Monitoring Officer) has determined in preparing this report 
that paragraph 18 should apply.  Their view on the public interest test was that 
the authority’s statutory powers could be rendered ineffective or less effective 
were there to be advanced knowledge of its intention/the proper exercise of the 
Council’s statutory power could be prejudiced by public discussion or 
speculation on the matter to the detriment of the authority and the inhabitants 
of its area.  On that basis they felt that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  
Members are asked to consider this factor when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this 
part of the meeting. 

 

Page 58



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 7
By virtue of paragraph(s) 17 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972
as amended by the Local Government (Access to
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes.
	5 Determination of Planning Applications under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	CONTENTS PAGE - 5TH MARCH 2024
	Two Stage Voting
	SCHEDULE - 5TH MARCH 2024

	6 Exclusion of the Public.
	7 Enforcement Report.

